

Helsingin yliopiston kasvitieteen julkaisuja Publications in Botany from the University of Helsinki N:o 30

Restoring vegetation and carbon dynamics in a cut-away peatland

Eeva-Stiina Tuittila

Academic dissertation

To be presented, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Auditorium of the Department of Ecology and Systematics, Unioninkatu 44, Helsinki, on November 24th, 2000, at 12 o`clock

Helsinki 2000

This thesis consists of the summary and the following five substudies, which are referred to by their Roman numerals:

I Tuittila, E-S., Rita, H., Vasander, H. & Laine, J. 2000: Vegetation pattern around tussocks of *Eriophorum vaginatum* L. in a cut-away peatland in Southern Finland. Canadian Journal of Botany 78: 47-58.

II Tuittila, E-S., Vasander, H. & Laine, J. 2000: Impact of rewetting on vegetation of a cut-away peatland. Accepted for publication in Applied Vegetation Science.

III Tuittila, E-S., Komulainen, V-M., Vasander, H. & Laine, J. 1999: Restored cutaway peatland as a sink for atmospheric CO₂. Oecologia 120: 563-574.

IV Tuittila, E-S., Komulainen, V-M., Vasander, H., Nykänen, H., Martikainen, P.J. & Laine, J. 2000: Methane dynamics of a restored cut-away peatland. Global Change Biology 6: 569-581.

V Tuittila, E-S., Vasander, H. & Laine, J. 200X: Impact of *Sphagnum* re-introduction on the carbon dynamics of a cut-away peatland. Submitted manuscript.

The copyright owners of substudies I, II, III, and IV: National Research Council of Canada, The International Association for Vegetation Science, Springer-Verlag, and Blackwell Science Ltd, are acknowledged for the permissions to use the substudies as appendixes.

ISSN 1238-4577 ISBN 951-45-9608-0 ISBN 951-45-9609-9 (pdf) ISBN 951-45-9610-2 (html) Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2000 Helsingin yliopiston kasvitieteen julkaisuja Publications in Botany from the University of Helsinki N:o 30

Restoring vegetation and carbon dynamics in a cut-away peatland

EEVA-STIINA TUITTILA

Pristine mire is a peat accumulating wetland ecosystem that is sustained by a high water level. Peat accumulated in mires is commonly harvested for energy and horticultural purposes. After harvesting, the cut-away sites are vegetationless and act as sources for CO_2 . Because plant colonization of these harsh environments is slow, human measures are needed for promoting regeneration of the functional mire ecosystem. Although peatland restoration aims to regenerate a carbon accumulating ecosystem, so far there has been little if any research on the carbon dynamics of these sites.

The vegetation and carbon dynamics of a cut-away peatland were studied one year before and four years after rewetting, and compared to the restoration success of *Sphagnum* re-introduction.

Before rewetting, the cut-away site was a mosaic of *Eriophorum* vaginatum tussocks and almost vegetationless intertussocks developing towards closed dry ombrotrophic vegetation. *Eriophorum* facilitated the colonization of other plant species that find a variety of microsites around tussocks. The dry cut-away site generally was a source of carbon into the atmosphere, but the individual *Eriophorum* tussocks fixed CO_2 to the ecosystem and decreased the loss of carbon. The tussocks acted as a source for methane while the intertussocks were net consumers. The tussocks seemed to facilitate colonization of methanogenic microbes by releasing organic substrates into the rhizosphere.

Raising the water table level above or close to the soil surface promoted development of wet minerotrophic vegetation and some *Sphagna* were found. However, the most important impact of rewetting on the ecosystem's function was an increase in the cover of existing *Eriophorum* tussocks and a rapid development of new seedlings. The rise of the water table level decreased CO_2 emission and increased CH_4 emission from the ecosystem by lowering the oxidation of peat and CH_4 . However, the expansion of *Eriophorum* was a driving force in transforming the carbon dynamics of the cut-away peatland towards a mire ecosystem. In high water level conditions the higher CO_2 flux into the ecosystem caused an increase in seasonal CO_2 balance and net CH_4 flux. In a cut-away site with 3000–7000-year-old peat, new photosynthates seem to be even more important for carbon dynamics than in other peatland ecosystems.

In conditions where the water table level was raised close to the soil surface, the ecosystem's seasonal CO_2 balance rose within three years after rewetting to the level necessery for long-term carbon accumulation of Finnish bogs. The functional change towards a mire ecosystem when the site was not yet fully colonized showed that it is not possible to separate different phases in the restoration process.

The re-introduction of *Sphagnum angustifolium* by moss material with capitula showed a high potential for the rapid formation of a closed *Sphagnum* carpet if the moss material did not suffer from floodings. *Sphagnum* re-introduction increased carbon binding on the site, but *Sphagnum* surfaces had a lower seasonal balance than *Eriophorum* tussocks. Because of the sensitivity of the *Sphagnum* photosynthesis to variations in the water table level, the restoration of cut-away sites to peat accumulating mire ecosystems is likely to benefit from the presence of vascular plants.

Key words: CO₂, CH₄, *Eriophorum vaginatum*, facilitation, *Sphagnum*, restoration, succession, water table level

Eeva-Stiina Tuittila, Department of Forest Ecology, P.O. Box 24, FIN-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland. E-mail: eevastiina.tuittila@helsinki.fi

Reviewers: Dr. Jukka Alm, Department of Computer Science, P.O. Box 111, FIN-80101 University of Joensuu, Finland

Dr. Jan Sliva, Technische Universität München, Department of Ecology, Chair of Vegetation Ecology, Am Hochanger 6, D-85350 Freising-Weihenstephan, Germany

Opponent: Prof. Jill Bubier, Department of Earth and Environment, Mount Holyoke College, Clapp 320, South Hadley, MA 01075-6419, U.S.A

Supervisers: Dr. Jukka Laine, Department of Forest Ecology, P.O. Box 24, FIN-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland

Dr. Harri Vasander, Department of Forest Ecology, P.O. Box 24, FIN-00014 University of Helsinki, Finland

CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	7
1.1 Vegetation and carbon dynamics in mire ecosystems	7
1.2 Northern peat resources and their use	8
1.3 Cut-away peatland as an ecosystem	9
1.4 Restoration of cut-away peatland to a mire ecosystem	10
1.5 The aims of the study	11
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	11
2.1 Study site and experimental design	11
2.2. Vegetation monitoring and analysis	12
2.2.1 Sampling and analysing vegetation around Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks	12
2.2.2 Studying vegetation of a cut-away peatland before and after rewetting	12
2.2.3 Studying recolonization success of re-introduced Sphagnum	13
2.3 Carbon gas studies	13
2.3.1 CO ₂ and CH ₄ flux measurements	13
2.3.2 Modelling CO ₂ and CH ₄ fluxes	14
2.3.3 Simulating seasonal CO ₂ and CH ₄ fluxes	15
2.3.4 Analysing the effect of Sphagnum re-introduction on CH ₄ fluxes	16
3. RESULTS	16
3.1 Vegetation before and after rewetting	16
3.1.1 Vegetation composition prior to rewetting	16
3.1.2 Facilitation by Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks	16
3.1.3 Vegetation change following rewetting	16
3.1.4 Growth of re-introduced Sphagnum	17
3.2 Carbon dynamics	17
3.2.1 CO ₂ dynamics before and after rewetting	17
3.2.2 CH ₄ dynamics before and after rewetting	20
3.2.3 Seasonal CO ₂ balance and CH ₄ flux before and after rewetting	20
3.2.4 Simulated effect of water level and Eriophorum on seasonal CO ₂ balance and Cl	H_4
flux	20
3.2.5 Factors controlling CO ₂ dynamics in Sphagnum re-introductions	21
3.2.6 Seasonal CO ₂ balance in Sphagnum surfaces	21
3.2.7 CH ₄ dynamics of Sphagnum re-introductions in comparison to bare peat surface	s22
4. DISCUSSION	22
4.1 Vegetation dynamics	22
4.1.1 Species composition prior to rewetting resembled dry heath community	22
4.1.2 Colonization of cut-away peatland was facilitated by Eriophorum vaginatum	22
4.1.3 Rewetting promoted development towards wet minerotropic vegetation	23
4.1.4 Sphagnum re-introduction promoted the formation of moss carpet	23
4.2 Carbon dynamics	23
4.2.1 CO ₂ and CH ₄ dynamics was controlled by Eriophorum vaginatum	23
4.2.2 Seasonal variation in CO_2 and CH_4 dynamics was related to sequential leaf	
development of Eriophorum vaginatum	24
4.2.3 Seasonal CO ₂ balance and net CH ₄ flux increased after rewetting and following	
expansion of Eriophorum vaginatum	25
4.2.4 CO ₂ dynamics in Sphagnum re-introductions was controlled by water table leve	1.26
4.3.5 Sphagnum re-introduction reduced carbon loss from cut-away peatland	27

4.3.6 Restored cut-away peatland is a potential carbon sink and CH ₄ source	28
5. CONCLUSIONS	28
6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	29
7. REFERENCES	30

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Vegetation and carbon dynamics in mire ecosystems

Northern mires, or pristine peatlands, are wetland ecosystems sustained by a humid climate and a high water level. Consequently, hydrology is dominant factor for mire development, ecology and distribution. Mire vegetation consists of plant species adapted to wet conditions with low oxygen availability (Ingram 1983, Tallis 1983). Ombrotrophic mires receive water and chemical elements from atmospheric deposition only, but minerotrophic mire ecosystems also receive them from the surrounding catchment area (Ingram 1983, Clymo 1984). Production level is dependent on nutrient level as well as on species composition and environmental factors: moisture, light, and temperature (Harley et al. 1989, Murray et al. 1989, Alm et al. 1997, 1999b, Bubier et al. 1998, Frolking et al. 1998). In ombrotrophic mires in particular, the most important vegetation component is the moss genus Sphagnum L. Contrary to Sphagna, vascular plants growing in lawn or hollow levels, like species of Eriophorum L. and Carex L. genera, have aerenchymatic roots as adaptation for water logged conditions and their biomass is mainly located belowground (Sjörs 1991, Saarinen 1996). Therefore, although all vegetation is involved in the primary production of the ecosystem, Sphagnum mosses are responsible for the height growth of the mire (Laine et al. 2000).

Mires act as long-term sinks for atmospheric carbon because of an unbalanced ratio of decomposition to primary production. While most of the carbon bound in photosynthesis is released back to the atmosphere as CO_2 , a small proportion of the primary production is deposited under anoxic conditions below water table and accumulated as peat (Fig. 1) (Clymo 1998). The actual rate of aerobic decomposition is controlled by water table level and

temperature (Kim & Verma 1992, Silvola et al. 1996, Bubier et al. 1998, Christensen et al. 1998), but also by the species composition, because the resistance to decay is species specific (Johnson et al. 1990, Buttler et al. 1994, Verhoeven & Toth 1995, Szumigalski & Bayley 1996, Aerts et al. 1999).

Part of the accumulated organic material is further decomposed in anoxic conditions (Fig. 1) (Cao et al. 1996). The slow anoxic decomposition releases carbon as CH₄, which diffuses through peat into the atmosphere along a concentration gradient. Part of the CH₄ produced is oxidized by methanotrophic bacteria in the aerobic layer, and released as CO₂ (Sundh et al. 1995). The thickness of the aerobic peat layer above the water table controls the ratio of production to oxidation (Whiting & Chanton 1993, Sundh et al. 1995), which is usually shown as decreasing emissions with deepening water levels (Roulet et al. 1993). Pristine peatlands typically act as a source of methane into the atmosphere (Harris et al. 1985, Crill et al. 1988, Moore & Knowles 1990, Bartlett et al. 1992, Bubier et al. 1993b, Bubier et al. 1995, Nykänen et al. 1998).

Although both production and oxidation processes are influenced by temperature, CH₄ oxidation has been found to be less sensitive to temperature variation (Moosavi & Crill 1998, Saarnio & Silvola 1999). The ecosystem's methane production is associated with its primary production capacity (Schimel 1995). Plants stimulate microbial activities by releasing organic substrates into the rhizosphere through litter and root exudation (Schütz et al. 1991, Whiting & Chanton 1993, Thomas et al. 1996, Huang et al. 1997a, b), and deep rooting species can supply organic material into anoxic layers even when the water table is deep. Vascular plants with aerenchymatic tissues also influence CH₄ flux by offering a route for its transport through root-shoot pathways (Schimel 1995, Thomas et al. 1996, Huang et al. 1997a, b). This transportation from anoxic layers to the atmosphere is not only faster than the diffusion but also more efficient, because methane oxidation may be avoided inside the plant (Conrad 1989, Frenzel & Rudolph 1998). Spatial variation in methane emissions has also been connected to plant species composition,



Fig. 1. Gaseous carbon cycle, typical of a pristine mire ecosystem.

microtopography, nutritional status, substrate concentration, the acidity of soils, and their microbial characteristics (Svensson & Rosswall 1984, Moore & Knowles 1989, Bubier et al. 1993a, Bubier 1995, Schimel 1995, Saarnio et al. 1997, Bergman et al. 1998).

1.2 Northern peat resources and their use

Northern mires form a carbon storage of $273*10^{15}$ (Turunen et. al. 2000) to $455*10^{15}$ g (Gorham 1991), with an annual sink estimate of 0.096 $*10^{15}$ g (Gorham 1991) or $0.07*10^{15}$ g (Clymo et al. 1998). During the Holocene epoch, Finnish mires have sequestered carbon annually at the mean rate of 22.5 ± 0.4 (S.E.) g C m⁻², while the rate has varied between 2.8 and 88.6 g C m⁻² (Tolonen & Turunen 1996). The optimal conditions for peat formation are in areas with an annual mean temperature between 5 and 10 °C (Clymo et al. 1998).

More than 90% of peatlands are located in the boreal and temperate vegetation zones (Immirzi et al. 1992), where peat accumulated in mires has commonly been utilised as a fuel or for horticultural purposes (Göttlich et al. 1993). Nowadays the largest harvesting areas are found in Russia (about 90 000 km²), Ireland (1 100 km²), Belarus (1 090 km²), Finland (526 km²), Germany (325 km²), Latvia (261 km²) and Canada (160 km²) (Lappalainen 1996). Although energy use accounts for only about half of the total amount of harvested peat, the major share of peat in countries such as Ireland and Finland is used for energy production (Asplund 1996).

Currently the main harvesting method is milling, which needs effective drainage because heavy machinery is used and because milled peat is dried on the surface of the strips from a gravimetric moisture content of 85-92% to 35-55%. Prior to harvesting, the mire is ditched, the vegetation completely removed and strips between the ditches made slightly convex (Frilander et al. 1996). Extensive areas are usually involved because a layer of only 1-2 cm of peat is removed at a time. After about 20-50 years of peat production the peatland is abandoned. Because large scale industrial production only began in the late 1960s, harvesting is coming to an end over extensive areas (Nyrönen 1996).

1.3 Cut-away peatland as an ecosystem

After abandonment, cut-away peatlands have no propagule bank (Salonen 1987b, Poschlod 1995, Huopalainen et al. 1998) and the distance from propagule sources might restrict colonization from surrounding areas (Campbell 2000). The lack of plant cover strengthens the drying effect of the wind on the uppermost peat layer (Salonen 1987b). The low albedo of the dark peat surface and low heat conductance in dry peat causes high fluctuations in daily temperature. In spite of the deep mean water table level, large water table fluctuations characterise cut-away peatlands because of low water storage capacity in relatively high bulk density (Joosteen 1992, Schouwenaars 1993, Price 1996). Thus, on non-vegetated cut-away peatlands there is no carbon fixation in the ecosystem, but, as results from tundra (Billings et al. 1982, 1983, Peterson et al. 1984) and peatland ecosystems indicate (Silvola et al. 1985, 1996, Glenn et al. 1993, Funk et al. 1994, Martikainen et al. 1995, Nykänen et al. 1995), a deep water favours organic table level matter oxidation resulting in CO₂ emissions (Fig. 2). Without human activities promoting the regeneration of the mire ecosystem, i.e. restoration, plant colonization of these areas has been found to be very slow due to harsh hydrological and microclimatic conditions (Famous et al. 1991, Joosten 1995, Pfadenhauer & Klötzli 1996, Price 1996).



Fig. 2. Gaseous carbon cycle, typical of a vegetationless cut-away peatland.

There is evidence that facilitation may be an important succession mechanism in the colonization of cut-away peatlands. Thus, Sphagnum colonization of cut-away peatlands has been found under leaves of Eriophorum vaginatum L. in the Swiss Jura Mountains (Grosvernier et al. 1995) and Eriophorum angustifolium Honck. was found to facilitate Sphagnum establishment in a re-introduction experiment in Canada (Ferland & Rochefort 1997). On boreal and temperate cut-away peatlands with a thick residual peat layer, Eriophorum vaginatum is a typical dominant in early succession (Gimingham 1960, Smart et al. 1989, Meade 1992, Salonen 1992, Cooper & McCann 1995, Lavoie & Rochefort 1996) because of its ability to colonize bare peat surfaces (Gardner et al. 1986). More humid microclimate has been observed under Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks where shading reduces the drying effect of wind and solar irradiation (Grosvernier et al. 1995, Sliva 1997). Sliva (1997) has documented the gradient in exposure by observing daytime temperatures, which are lower near the base of tussocks than farther away. He also observed the highest daily temperature maxima and fluctuations in the southern direction of the tussock and the lowest temperature fluctuations in the northern direction. It is not known, however, how variations in tussock characteristics and in the location of microsites relative to the tussock affects spatial variation in colonizing vegetation.

Carbon dynamics between mire ecosystems and the atmosphere involves the dynamics of CO_2 and CH_4 , both of which contribute to atmospheric warming by absorbing the infrared energy reflected from the earth's surface. Therefore, the changes in peatland carbon dynamics affect climate (Blunier et al. 1995, Franzen et al. 1996). The use of peat changes the balance, not only by liberating carbon accumulated in mires into the atmosphere, but by diminishing the size of the carbon sink, and also the size of the methane source.

1.4 Restoration of cut-away peatland to a mire ecosystem

Peatland restoration aims to bring back a naturally functioning, self-sustaining ecosystem (Wheeler and Shaw 1995), or reinitiate the peat forming processes (Pfadenhauer & Klötzli 1996). The first restoration attempts of cut-away peatlands, carried out in Germany, the United Kingdom and the Netherlands, included the rewetting of peat deposits by filling or blocking drainage ditches. Kuntze & Eggelmann (1981) have presented a theoretical model of the restoration process for cut-away peatlands after rewetting that distinguishes various phases. In the model the Colonization Phase following rewetting is estimated to take from years to decades. This is followed by the Renaturation Phase when the acrotelm is formed and the plant, animal, and microbe communities start to resemble those in pristine peatlands. In the final phase, Regeneration, which might be reached after centuries, the carbon dynamic resemble those in pristine peatland; the ecosystem becomes a sink of carbon and accumulates peat.

Up to now restoration studies have dealt only with the first phase of resto-Colonization. ration process; Firstly. vegetation composition in cut-away peatlands has been studied in Europe (Curran & MacNaeidhe 1986, Salonen 1987a, 1990, 1992, Poschlond 1992, Salonen & Setälä 1992, Salonen et al. 1992, Cooper & McCann 1995, Grosvernier et al. 1995) and North America (Elling & Knighton 1984, Desrochers et al. 1998, Bérubé & Lavoie 2000). Studies of restoration by rewetting and the consequent recolonization of cut-away peatlands have followed (Meade 1992, Roderfeld et al. 1993, Salonen & Laaksonen 1994, Wheeler & Shaw 1995, Sliva 1997, Sliva & Pfadenhauer 1999). However, results of monitored plant colonization and vegetation succession are still rare (Meade 1992) and improved knowledge of vegetation patterns and succession mechanisms, eg. facilitation, is needed for a better understanding of how a certain peatland area can be manipulated to become a functional mire ecosystem.

Promotion of the colonization by Sphagnum re-introduction to has been studied in the laboratory (Poschlod & Pfadenhauser 1989, Rochefort et al. 1995, Sagot & Rochefort 1996, Grosvernier et al. 1997) and in field conditions in Europe (Money 1995, Sliva 1997, Sliva & Pfadenhauer 1999) and North America (Campeau & Rochefort 1996, Bugnon et al. 1997, Ferland & Rochefort 1997, Rochefort & Campeau 1997, Price et al. 1998). In spite of the aim to restore the carbon cycle typical to mire ecosystems, thus far little if any research has been done on carbon dioxide and methane dynamics in these ecosystems, and the impacts of restoration by rewetting or *Sphagnum* reintroduction cannot be quantified.

1.5 The aims of the study

This study aimed to assess the major biotic and abiotic factors controlling the vegetation and carbon dynamics of a cut-away peatland ecosystem. Instead of an extensive study over a variety of cut-away peatland sites, a process orientated approach was used in studying the change in the dynamics of the ecosystem following rewetting as well as *Sphagnum* reintroduction in order to test the theoretical model of the restoration process (Kuntze & Eggelmann 1981). More specifically the aims were:

- (i) to reveal how facilitation by *Eriophorum vaginatum* affects the colonization pattern in cut-away peatland (**I**)
- (ii) to connect the variation in vegetation to variation in abiotic factors (II)
- (iii) to assess the impact of rewetting on vegetation succession (**II**)
- (iv) to evaluate *Sphagnum* recolonization success in dry and wet conditions (**V**)
- (v) to quantify factors controlling carbon dynamics of cut-away peatland(III, IV, V)
- (vi) to assess the impact of rewetting and the following vegetation change, as well as *Sphagnum* reintroduction, on carbon dynamics of cut-away peatland (**III**, **IV**, **V**)

2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

2.1 Study site and experimental design

The study was carried out in a cut-away peatland, Aitoneva, (62°12'N, 23°18'E), in Kihniö, in southern Finland. The study site was situated on the transition between the southern and middle boreal coniferous forest zones (Ahti et al. 1968) in the eccentric raised bog region (Ruuhijärvi 1982). The long-term annual mean temperature of the area is 3.5°C, and the mean annual precipitation is c. 700 mm. The average growing season is 160 days, and the accumulative temperature sum (threshold value $+5^{\circ}$ C) is 1100 degree days. Since Aitoneva is the oldest industrially harvested peat production area in Finland, peat production fields, cut-away peatlands of different ages, and spontaniously regenenerated old peat pits surrounded the study site.

Originally the study site had been a wet treeless mire, but no information of the mire site type was available. The site was first ditched in 1938. From 1944 to 1951, sod peat was produced, and milled peat from 1951 to 1975. During the last years of harvesting, pumping was also used to drain the site. The site was abandoned in 1975 when drainage was no longer economically feasible; therefore the average residual peat layer was unusually thick by Finnish standards, approximately one metre. The residual surface peat was highly decomposed *Sphagnum-Eriophorum* peat.

The size of the study site was 3.5 ha and it was divided into 20-m-wide convex strips by ditches. In 1994 the drainage system was still partially functioning. A two hectare area, rewetted in the autumn of 1994, was referred to as the rewetted site (R), and the remainder of the field was called the control site (C). The strips sloped down and formed a moisture gradient from a drier upper (R1, C1) to a wetter lower section (R2, C2).

Rewetting of the site was achieved by blocking the drainage ditches with peat dams in the autumn of 1994. In addition, a feeder ditch was excavated to the upper section of the rewetted site to restore the ground water flow to the site from surrounding areas.

2.2. Vegetation monitoring and analysis

2.2.1 Sampling and analysing vegetation around Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks

In order to determine how the variation in *Eriophorum vaginatum* tussock characteristics and the location of microsites relative to the tussock affect the spatial variation in colonizing vegetation, the vegetation around the tussocks was studied during summer 1994 before rewetting (**I**).

Seventy two tussocks located on one peat strip were randomly selected. At each tussock, four 30 cm long transects, one in each cardinal direction, were established in order to detect changes in vegetation as a function of distance from the base of the tussock. Each transect consisted of six adjoining 5*5 cm sample plots, with the first one next to the tussock's leaf sheath bundle (Fig. 1 in I). The percentage cover in sample plots was estimated for each plant species. The cases where a neighbouring tussock was closer than 30 cm were omitted from the statistical analyses, and the total number of sample plots used was 1665.

The diameter and height of each tussock and the diameter and height of the tussock's leaf sheath bundle were measured (Fig. 1 in I). A variable shade index was calculated by multiplying the diameter of the tussock by the height of the tussock's leaf sheath bundle. The proportion of the tussock's living leaves was estimated. The distances from the tussock's base in the four cardinal directions were used to describe the degree of exposure. The mean water table level of tussocks was estimated as described in **I**.

The effects of the tussock characteristics and the distance and orientation of a sample plot on the vegetation composition around tussocks were analysed with Partial Canonical Correspondence Analysis (CCA) (Ter Braak 1988). The effect of water table level was omitted by treating it as a co-variable.

The response of five frequent species and variable "presence of any species" to variation in tussock characteristics, the distance and orientation of a sample plot in relation to tussock, and water table level, were modelled using logit regression analysis (Hoemer & Lemenshaw 1989). The response model is described in detail in **I**.

2.2.2 Studying vegetation of a cut-away peatland before and after rewetting

To assess vegetation developed in cutaway peatland after abandonment, and the impact of rewetting on vegetation succession, the change in vegetation was monitored from permanent sample plots between 1994 and 1998 (II). Before rewetting in 1994, a group of twelve circular vegetation sample plots of 2 m^2 each were established on the upper and lower section of the rewetted and control sites. Sample plots were placed systematically in three lines over one and a half strips at seven-metres distance from each other. The percentage cover class of each species was estimated by the same person at the same time each year: between late July and early August.

The water level of each vegetation plot was monitored throughout the growing season in ground water tubes next to each plot, and the depth of the peat layer in each sample plot was measured. Undisturbed surface (0-10 cm) peat samples (593 cm³) were taken next to each plot in 1994. Dried (105°C) and weighed peat samples were ground to pass a 2 mm sieve. The total carbon and nitrogen concentrations were measured on a Leco CHN 600 analyser. The concentrations of other elements were measured on an ICP analyser (ARL 358) after HNO₃-H₂SO₄-HClO₄ digestion at 200°C.

Detrended correspondence analysis (DCA) (ter Braak 1987) was used to ana-

lyse the variation in vegetation and its correlation with environmental variables in the plant community data collected in 1994, prior to rewetting. DCA was also used to analyse the change in vegetation during 1994-1998, and to compare the change in the rewetted site to the succession in the control site.

The diversity index of each sample plot was calculated each year using the Shannon formula H'= $-\sum p_i \ln p_i$ (Shannon & Weaver 1948), where p_i is the proportion of the total cover contributed by each species.

2.2.3 Studying recolonization success of re-introduced Sphagnum

In order to study the recolonization success of *Sphagnum angustifolium* (Russ.) C. Jens. using material consisting of stems and branches and material including capitula, living *Sphagnum angustifolium* material (top 10 cm layer) was collected from an *Eriophorum vaginatum* pine bog in southern Finland (61°51'N, 24°17'E) in September, 1994. Living moss material was cut into 2-3 cm fragments, and divided into (1) material consisting of stems and branches and (2) material including capitula.

Ten sample plots, each 60*60 cm, were set up at the lower and upper ends of one peat strip forming two moisture treatments at the study site. Moss material was spread into the sample plots and an even covering layer was formed by hand, after randomising five sample plots for stem material and five for capitulum material in both sections.

Five randomised *Sphagnum* individuals were picked from each sample plot at the end of August, 1995-1997, and their total length was measured. The mean of the annual measurements was used to represent the *Sphagnum* length of a plot for each year. The cover of *Sphagnum* capitula was recorded annually at the end of August during 1995-1998. In each sample plot, a circular subplot with a diameter of 10 cm was mapped in transparent plastic film. The area covered by capitula on these maps was measured with a digitizing pad. In 1998, when the sample plots in the lower section were continuously inundated, the cover was visually estimated.

The effect of the moss material treatment (stem or capitula material) and the moisture level treatment on the cover of *Sphagnum* capitula during 1995-1998, and on the moss length during 1995-1997 was analysed separately using ANOVA of repeated measures. The linearity of the moss cover development and length development in time were tested separately using the Polynomial Test of Order 1 (SYSTAT 1998).

2.3 Carbon gas studies

2.3.1 CO_2 and CH_4 flux measurements

Ten sample plots were established for gas flux measurements on different surfaces representing variations in the vegetation of the study site, i.e. the mosaic of Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks and almost vegetationless intertussocks (a term also used by Poole & Miller 1982, Johnson et al. 1996) (III, IV). Six of the Sphagum re-introduction plots were selected for gas flux measurements, and two bare peat sample plot was established among the moss sample plots in order to compare the carbon dynamics of Sphagnum reintroductions with that of bare peat surfaces (V). All these plots were surrounded by aluminium collars with a groove for airtight water sealing during gas flux measurements.

Gas flux measurements were started in late May or early June and continued until late September or early November. Flux measurements were done at 1 to 3 week intervals, most frequently from late June to mid August. CO_2 flux measurements in tussocks - intertussock sample plots were carried out during 1994-1997 and CH_4 flux measurements during 1994-1996. In *Sphagnum* re-introduction plots CO_2 flux measurements were carried out during 1995-1998 and CH_4 flux measurements were made in 1996 and 1997.

Each instantaneous CO₂ exchange measurement series consists of a couplet of net CO₂ exchange (P_N) and total respiration measurement (R_{TOT}) (III, IV). P_N, sometimes refered to as NEE in litterature, is a difference between the CO_2 fixed by plants in gross photosynthesis (P_G) and CO₂ released in respiration of plants, soil animals, and microbes that decompose organic carbon and oxidise methane, i.e. R_{TOT}. A vented and thermostated transparent plastic chamber (0.106 m³) was used in measurements (Alm 1997). The CO_2 concentration in the chamber was measured with a portable infrared gas analyser. P_N was measured with the chamber uncovered and exposed to ambient illumination. After P_N measurements R_{TOT} was measured with the chamber covered with an opaque lid, under temperature and moisture conditions similar to those for P_N measurements.

CH₄ measurements were carried out using the dark, static chamber technique: the chamber (0.108 m^3) was placed onto the collar and a series of gas samples was drawn from the chamber headspace (**IV**, **V**). The samples' CH₄ concentrations were determined in the laboratory with a gas chromatograph within 24 hours of sampling.

In connection with gas sampling, air temperature inside the chamber, water table level, and a peat temperature profile were measured. Solar irradiation (PAR) was measured simultaneously with P_N measurements. Similarly to permanent vegetation sample plots, the projection cover class of each species at gas sample plots was estimated each year.

Gas flux rates were calculated by regression from the linear change of concentration in the chamber headspace as a function of time, base area, chamber volume, and the molar volume of CO_2 or CH_4 at chamber air temperature. Positive P_N values were used when the CO_2 flux from the atmosphere into the vegetation exceeded total respiration from vegetation and soil, i.e. the site was a sink for atmospheric CO₂. An estimate of gross photosynthesis (P_G) was calculated as the sum of P_N and R_{TOT} values. Positive values were used for CH₄ emission from the site, and negative values when the site acted as a sink for atmospheric CH₄.

2.3.2 Modelling CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes

In order to quantify factors controlling carbon dynamics of cut-away peatland, response functions for gross photosynthesis (P_G), total respiration (R_{TOT}), and CH₄ flux were constructed (**III**, **IV**, **V**). Modelling was based on simultaneous measurements of gas exchange fluxes and environmental variables.

In the P_G model for the mosaic of Eriophorum tussocks and intertussock surfaces (Eq.2 in III), photosynthesis was assumed to have a saturating response to irradiation (PAR), which was described by Michaelis-Menten the function with parameters Q (asumptotic maximum) and k (half saturation constant). Maximal photo synthesis (Q) was assumed to be linearly dependent on the cover of Eriophorum (EV), effective temperature sum index (ETI), and soil temperature (T_{-5}) . Variable ETI (Alm et al. 1997), a quotient of cumulative temperature sum (threshold 5° C) and the number of temperature sum days, was formed to describe seasonality. The parameter values for Q and k were estimated using a non-linear regression technique.

Similarly to the P_G of the mosaic of *Eriophorum* tussock and intertussock surfaces, the dependence of gross photosynthesis on irradiation in *Sphagnum* surfaces was assumed to have the form of rectangular hyberbola with coefficients Q and k, but the asymptotic maximum was assumed to be linearly dependent on *Sphagnum* capitula cover (SA) and unimodally dependent on water table level (WT) (Eq. 1 in **V**). The Gaussian form of response, where coefficient m is the maximum photosynthesis in optimal water table

level, coefficient u the optimum WT for photosynthesis, and coefficient t the tolerance, i.e. the measure of width in water table level amplitude, was used to describe the dependence of Q on water table level.

In the R_{TOT} model for the mosaic of *Eriophorum* tussocks and intertussock surfaces, statistical relationships were derived between log transformed total respiration and *Eriophorum vaginatum* cover (EV), surface soil temperature (T₋₅), water level (WT), and effective temperature sum index (ETI) (Eq.2 in **III**). Parameter values for the coefficients of the environmental variables were estimated using a linear regression technique.

The dependence of R_{TOT} in Sphagnum surfaces on water table level (WT) was assumed to have a form of sigmoid, where the maximum respiration (a) was dependent on air temperature (T). Coefficient b was used to determine the speed and direction of change in R_{TOT} along the WT gradient, and c for the centre of the fastest change (Eq. 2 in V). Parameter values for the coefficients of the environmental variables were estimated separately for Sphagnum surfaces and bare peat surfaces using non-linear regression technique.

The net CO_2 exchange (P_N) was calculated as a difference between P_G and R_{TOT} .

A statistical response model for CH₄ flux in the mosaic of the Eriophorum tussocks and intertussocks at the study site was constructed using multiple linear regression. The strongest correlation was in the model where soil temperatures (T-15 and T₋₃₀), interaction between *Eriophorum* cover and effective temperature sum index and interaction (EV×ETI), between cover and Eriophorum water level (EV×WT), were used as independent variables (Eq. 1 in IV).

2.3.3 Simulating seasonal CO₂ and CH₄ fluxes

The effect of rewetting and *Sphagnum* reintroduction on the seasonal (mid May to the end of September) carbon gas balance was assessed with reconstructions of seasonal CO₂ balance (sometimes referred to as NEP in the literature) and net CH₄ flux (**III**, **IV**, **V**). Reconstructions were based on the gas flux response functions (Eqs. 1-3 in **III**, Eq. 1 in **IV** Eqs. 1, 2 and 4 in **V**) and measured time series of environmental variables over the growing seasons; the fluxes were estimated for each hour of growing season and summed. Hourly environmental data was taken from the weather stations located on the study site and Lakkasuo mire (61°47'N, 24°18'E).

The equations (1-3 in **III** and 1 in **IV**) were used for estimating the hourly net CO_2 exchange (P_N), and CH₄ flux for the upper and lower sections of the rewetted (R1, R2) and control sites (C1, C2) that were integrated over the growing seasons 1994-1997. The equations (1, 2 and 4 in **V**) were used for estimating the hourly P_N in the *Sphagnum* stem and capitulum plots, and bare peat surfaces in drier and moister sections during the growing season 1996.

For the study, the direct effect of rewetting in closed vegetation, the seasonal CO_2 balance and net CH_4 flux were simulated for R1, R2, C1, using their measured environmental data but setting EV cover to 70%, here assumed to represent a fully closed ground layer vegetation (**III**, **IV**). In addition, the seasonal CO_2 balance for bare peat surfaces was similary simulated, setting EV cover to 0% (**III**).

For the study of the highest potential CO_2 balance in *Sphagnum* surfaces, the seasonal CO_2 fluxes were simulated for a closed *Sphagnum* carpet at an optimal water table level using the measured irradiation and temperature data but setting *Sphagnum* capitula cover to 97% and water table level to -12 cm (**V**).

The temporal relationship between CH_4 and CO_2 dynamics in a tussock and a intertussock was studied in dry and wet conditions by reconstructing fluxes over the growing seasons. The hourly CH_4 flux, P_G and R_{TOT} for a tussock and intertussock sample plot in a rewetted and in a control area were estimated using equations (1-3 in **III** and 1 in **IV**) and integrated over the growing seasons 1994-1997 (**IV**).

2.3.4 Analysing the effect of Sphagnum re-introduction on CH₄ fluxes

ANOVA of repeated measures were used in the analysis of 1996 and 1997 data (analysed separately) concerning the effect of *Sphagnum* re-introduction on CH₄ emission (**V**). The grouping factor, *Sphagnum* (bare peat surface, *Sphagnum* surfaces spread with moss material consisting of stems and branches, and *Sphagnum* surfaces spread with moss material including capitula), and the within factor, week, together with their interaction, were used in the analysis.

3. RESULTS

3.1 Vegetation before and after rewet-ting

3.1.1 Vegetation composition prior to rewetting

Nineteen years after the abandonment, the bare peat surfaces still constituted a major part of the field. The main variation in vegetation before rewetting was related to the variation in the amounts of main nutrients, the water table level, and the decomposition level of the peat (C:N, bulk density) (II). The moistest site with the highest nutrient level, the lower section of rewetted site (R2), had the highest total cover (51±7%) and diversity. The monodominance in R2 was remarkably lower than in other sites. Eriophorum vaginatum was the dominant of the field layer in all sites, but in R2 the minerotrophic species, Carex Stokes and rostrata Ε. angustifolium, also made a considerable contribution. In the bottom laver. Dicranella cerviculata (Hedw.) Schimp. and Polytrichum strictum Brid. were dominants. Betula pubescens Ehrh., together with B. pendula Roth and Pinus *sylvestris* L., formed a shrub layer that was densest in R2.

3.1.2 Facilitation by Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks

Altogether 19 plant species or species groups were found around the Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks studied. Only a few of them. Betula spp. L., Eriophorum vaginatum seedlings and moss species Dicranella cerviculata, Pohlia nutans (Hedw.) Lindb., *Polytrichastrum* longisetum (Brid.) G.L. Sm. and Polytrichum strictum, were frequent.

Most of the species, e.g. Drosera rotundifolia L., Vaccinium uliginosum L. and seedlings of Betula, had their highest cover in the most shaded microsites, i.e. in the close vicinity of large tussocks with a high proportion of living leaves (Figs 3, 5 and 6 in **I**). These species had their optima in the northern and western directions. Pohlia nutans had the narrowest ecological amplitude. Its optimal sites were at the base of very large tussocks, in the northern direction. In contrast, Calluna vulgaris (L.) *Polytrichum* spp. Hedw., Hull, and Eriophorum seedlings had their optima in least shaded sites, i.e. in the southern direction further away from small tussocks with a low proportion of living leaves. The frequent species Dicranella most cerviculata seemed to be generalist.

3.1.3 Vegetation change following rewetting

The main gradient in the succession data was related to differences between drier ombrotrophic and wetter minerotrophic vegetation (Fig. 4 in II). The dry ombrotrophic end of the gradient was characterised by a dense shrub layer, dwarf shrubs, lichens, and forest bryophytes, while species typical to wet minerotrophic mires, like Carex rostrata and Sphagnum riparium Ångstr., were located at the other end. Rewetting promoted the development of the lower section of the rewetted site towards wet minerotrophic vegetation, while the others tended to develope into a

closed dry ombrothrophic plant community. However, in the fourth year after rewetting, the development of the upper section of the rewetted site diverged from the control sites and turned towards the community found in the lower section of the rewetted site prior to rewetting.

In the lower section of the rewetted site, where the water table rose above or close to the soil surface, diversity decreased at first because of the disappearance of hummock vegetation. Shrub layer vegetation died soon after rewetting. However, rapid increase of *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *Carex rostrata* had started by the second year. The bryophytes typical of wet habitats, like *Warnstorfia fluitans* (Hedw.) Loeske and *Sphagnum* species, started to colonize the site more slowly.

Moderate rewetting in the upper section of the rewetted site caused an immediate increase in the cover of Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks and seedlings, and the wet mire plant species Drosera rotundifolia and minerotrophic species Carex canescens L. and Salix sp. L. colonized the site. In the bottom layer a considerable increase began a year later. Bryophytes typical of disturbed peat surfaces. like Dicranella cerviculata, Polytrichastrum longisetum, and Pohlia nutans, were clearly favoured.

3.1.4 Growth of re-introduced Sphagnum

Moss material with capitula produced higher capitula cover and length than moss material without capitula (Fig 1 in V). One year after re-introduction, the Sphagnum capitula cover was similar in drier and wetter treatments, being 48% in the capitulum sample plots and 8% in stem plots. After the first year, the mean cover was always lower in the regularly flooded lower section than in the drier section. The Sphagnum surfaces were in a dynamic stage; i.e. there was a significant difference between years, and the development of cover was non-linear. In drier treatment, the length was significantly higher in capitulum plots than in stem plots in each of the three measurement years. At both moisture levels, the moss length increased linearly during the three year period.

3.2 Carbon dynamics

3.2.1 CO₂ dynamics before and after rewetting

In the cut-away site characterized by the mosaic of tussocks and intertussocks the CO_2 exchange components (P_G , R_{TOT} , P_N) (III) were strongly related to the abundance of Eriophorum vaginatum (Figs. 3 & 4). Before rewetting, the mean R_{TOT} on tussocks was approximately three times higher than on intertussocks. After rewetting, the mean R_{TOT} strongly decreased on two intertussock plots, but not on the tussock or the driest intertussock plot (Fig. 3 in **III**). While rewetting caused an increase in the cover of Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks and promoted the development of seedlings (II), the potential P_G at PAR > 500 μ mol m⁻² s⁻¹ also increased (Fig. 4 in III). The changes in P_N following rewetting were largely similar to those in P_G (Fig. 5 in III).

The variation in gross photosynthesis (P_G) and total respiration rate (R_{TOT}) during the growing season followed the seasonal distribution of solar irradiation, soil temperature, and effective temperature sum index, as well as the seasonal fluctuations of the water level (Figs 1, 6, and 7 in III). In tussocks, the temporal variation in net CO_2 exchange (P_N) during the growing seasons followed the variation in P_G (Fig. 7 in **III**). However, because R_{TOT} and P_G reached their maximum at the same time, the increasing trend of P_N towards July - August and the decreasing trend towards autumn were weaker than that of P_G. In the intertussocks with small P_G, the seasonal pattern in P_N during the growing seasons was inverse to the pattern in tussocks (Fig. 7 in **III**).



Fig. 3. Gaseous carbon cycle of a dry cut-away peatland.



Fig. 4. Gaseous carbon cycle of a rewetted cut-away peatland.

3.2.2 CH₄ dynamics before and after rewetting

The measured CH_4 fluxes were generally low and the mean emissions from tussocks were significantly higher than those from intertussocks (Fig. 2 in **IV**). Before rewetting, all intertussocks consumed CH_4 (Fig. 3).

CH₄ emissions from all sample plots increased slightly after rewetting (Fig. 2 in **IV**). However, the emissions were significantly higher after rewetting only in the tussock sample plot, where a strong increase in *Eriophorum* cover was also observed (Fig. 4).

After the rise in water table level, the dynamics of the CH_4 fluxes in a rewetted tussock coincided with those of P_G until mid August (Fig. 4 in **IV**). However, while the P_G decreased at that time, the increase in CH_4 fluxes continued until mid September.

In the middle of the season, CH_4 emissions from intertussocks were at their lowest while the CH_4 fluxes into intertussocks were at their highest. The CH_4 flux from intertussocks resembled a mirror image of R_{TOT} , but after rewetting, the proportion of CH_4 in the carbon outflux was higher than it had been in 1994 (Fig. 6 in **IV**). The relative proportions of carbon emitted as CH_4 and CO_2 followed seasonal fluctuations in the water table level.

3.2.3 Seasonal CO_2 balance and CH_4 flux before and after rewetting

The seasonal estimates of the CO₂ balance for the calibration period in 1994, which had an exceptionally deep water table level, were all negative, i.e. the system was a net source of CO₂ into the atmosphere (Fig. 8a in **III**). The seasonal estimates for CH₄ fluxes at the study sites were very low (Fig. 7a in **IV**). The highest seasonal CO₂ balance was in the upper section of control site C1 (-111.8 g CO₂-C m⁻²), having the densest *Eriophorum* cover and the highest seasonal CH₄ emission (0.13 g CH₄-C m⁻²). The upper section of rewetted site R1, with the smallest *Eriophorum* cover and the deepest water table level, had the lowest CO_2 balance (-164.4 g CO_2 -C m⁻²), and it was a net consumer of CH_4 (-0.03 g CH_4 -C m⁻²).

During the three years after rewetting, there was an obvious increasing trend in the estimated seasonal net CO₂ influx into the rewetted site (Fig. 8a in **III**) as well as in the CH₄ emission from the rewetted site (Fig. 7a in IV). This increase followed the growth of the Eriophorum cover together with the rising water table. The lower section of the rewetted site with the highest water level, R2, reached a positive seasonal CO₂ balance two years after rewetting. During the third year it was still higher: 64.5 g CO_2 -C m⁻². In the upper section of rewetted site R1, which had a moderate rise of the water level, the seasonal balance remained negative during the three-year study period, being -38.3 g CO₂- $C m^{-2}$ in the third year. In the third year following rewetting, the reconstructed seasonal CH₄ emission was 0.95 g CH₄-C m⁻² from R2, and 0.40 g CH_4 -C m⁻² from R1.

3.2.4 Simulated effect of water level and Eriophorum on seasonal CO₂ balance and CH₄ flux

The seasonal CO_2 balance was simulated for conditions on bare peat surface. Environmental data from the rewetted and control sites were used but *Eriophorum* cover was set to zero. Similarly the seasonal CO_2 balance and CH_4 flux were simulated for closed *Eriophorum* vegetation on cut-away peatland, but *Eriophorum* cover was set to 70%, which was here presumed to represent fully closed surface layer vegetation.

The simulation for cut-away peatland with closed vegetation of *Eriophorum* showed that in conditions prevailing in a dry control site, the ecosystem can reach the compensation point ($P_G = R_{TOT}$), but only if weather conditions are favourable. According to CH₄ flux simulation, methane emission is low, also from *Eriophorum* vegetation, if the water table remains deep below the surface (Fig. 7b in **IV**).

Moderate rises in water level (R1) lowered CO₂ emission from bare peat surface about 30%, and by raising the water level close to the surface (R2), the emission was reduced by over 50% (Fig. 8c in **III**). In dense rewetted *Eriophorum* vegetation, the simulated seasonal CO₂ balance was positive in each year 1995-1997 (Fig. 8c in **III**). The CO₂ balance was 2-3 times higher with a high rise in the water level than with a moderate rise in the water level.

Raised water table level increased the methane emissions from dense *Eriophorum* vegetation (Fig. 7b in **IV**). Moderate rewetting (R1) increased seasonal emissions to 1.5-1.9 fold, and a high rise in the water level (R2) to 2.6-3.4 fold in comparison to emissions from the *Eriophorum* vegetation having a deep water table.

3.2.5 Factors controlling CO₂ dynamics in Sphagnum re-introductions

The water table level and the amount of moss cover controlled how effectively the Sphagnum surfaces were able to use irradiation for gross photosynthesis (P_G) (Figs. 3 & 4 in V). Gross photosynthesis (P_G) of Sphagnum surfaces showed a unimodal response to water table level, which reached a maximum at a water table level of -12 cm (Fig. 3 in V). The form of the light response was saturating, but in the measured amplitude of PAR, the Sphagnum surfaces did not seem to reach the light saturation point (Fig. 4 in V).

The total respiration (R_{TOT}) level of *Sphagnum* and bare peat surfaces increased with increasing temperature and decreasing water table level (Fig. 5 in V). The R_{TOT} rate in *Sphagnum* surfaces was clearly higher than the R_{TOT} rate of bare peat surfaces when moisture conditions were favourable for photosynthesis.

The mean of measured net CO_2 exchange (P_N) of *Sphagnum* sample plots was always higher than that of bare peat

surfaces. While the difference in cover between capitulum and stem plots decreased after the first year (Fig. 1a in V), the P_N in the two moss material treatments started to resemble each other (Fig. 6 in V). The seasonal variation in net CO₂ exchange (Fig. 6 in V) followed the seasonal variation in water table level (Fig. 2 in V).

The reconstruction of CO₂ fluxes over the growing season 1996 demonstrate the sensitivity of carbon dynamics in Sphagnum plots to water table level variation. There was no CO₂ fixation in the drier upper section after the end of August, when the water table level fell below the lower tolerance limit (Fig. 7 in V). In contrast, the P_G in the lower section decreased in the beginning of July when the water table level rose clearly above the optimum. However, in conditions too dry for photosynthesis, P_N was also reduced by an increase in R_{TOT}, and the Sphagnum surfaces emitted more CO_2 into the atmosphere than the bare peat surfaces.

3.2.6 Seasonal CO₂ balance in Sphagnum surfaces

The seasonal estimate of CO_2 balance was positive (21 g CO_2 -C) only in the capitulum plots of wetter moisture treatment, where the *Sphagnum* cover was over 90%. All the other plots lost CO_2 to the atmosphere (Fig. 8a,b in V). However, *Sphagnum* re-introduction in all plots had reduced the loss, i.e. the *Sphagnum* plots had 4 g and 68 g CO_2 -C higher seasonal balances than bare peat surfaces with similar water table levels.

The simulation of a closed *Sphagnum* carpet in optimal water table conditions showed positive P_N over the whole growing season (Fig. 8c in V). The seasonal CO₂ balance, 95 g CO₂-C, was 4.5 times higher than the estimate for capitulum plots of wetter moisture treatment, although the *Sphagnum* cover used in the simulation was only slightly higher. In this optimal situation, the CO₂ balance was 159 g CO₂-C higher than in bare peat surfaces.

3.2.7 CH₄ dynamics of Sphagnum reintroductions in comparison to bare peat surfaces

The CH₄ fluxes from and to Sphagnum surfaces were generally low (Fig. 9 in V). In 1996, CH₄ fluxes measured from capitulum plots varied between -0.1 and $0.2 \text{ mg m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$, and from bare peat surfaces between -0.1 and 0.3 mg m⁻² h⁻¹. There was no significant difference in the CH₄ fluxes between Sphagnum plots and bare peat surfaces, and fluxes did not show any seasonal pattern (Fig. 9a in V). In 1997, when measurements were made only in Sphagnum plots, fluxes from capitulum plots into the atmosphere were on average slightly higher, $-0.05 - 0.8 \text{ mg CH}_4 \text{ m}^{-2} \text{ h}^{-1}$, than from stem plots, -0.1 - 0.4 mg CH₄ m⁻ 2 h⁻¹ (Fig. 9b in **V**). In 1997, fluxes showed a significant seasonal pattern; emissons into the atmosphere were highest at the end of August.

4. DISCUSSION

4.1 Vegetation dynamics

4.1.1 Species composition prior to rewetting resembled dry heath community

Species composition found prior to rewetting supported the Grime's theory (Grime 1977): that perennials with features of stress-tolerants are typical dominant colonizers of nutrient-poor habitats. The finding was in accordance with the previous results of Salonen (1992). The dominant colonizers were typical of the hummock and lawn levels of ombrotrophic mires, Polvtrichum strictum such as and Eriophorum vaginatum (Eurola et al. 1984) or bare peat surfaces, such as Dicranella cerviculata and Polytrichastrum longisetum (Smith 1978, Koponen 1986) **(II)**.

The site was still in a colonization state, and resembled a dry heath-like vegetation or a secondary birch forest community that has been described from cut-away peatlands and drained bogs in central Europe (e.g. Pfadenhauer & Klötzli 1996, Money & Wheeler 1999). Ditches isolated the site from the surrounding area and made the site functionally ombrotrophic; it received additional water and chemical elements only from atmospheric deposition. A pattern typical of pristine mires, higher diversity connected to higher nutrient level together with higher wetness (Söyrinki et al. 1977, Vasander 1987), was found on the sites.

4.1.2 Colonization of cut-away peatland was facilitated by Eriophorum vaginatum

The aggregation of most species close to Eriophorum tussocks with a high proportion of living leaves (I) indicated that Eriophorum influences plant colonization patterns. This may reflect the existence of a more humid microclimate under the tussock (Grosvernier et al. 1995, Sliva 1997). The positive interaction between distance from the base of the tussock and shade index (sheltering cavity around the tussock, Fig. 1 in I) found for all the species studied indicates that the smaller the tussock, the nearer the plants have to occur to find a microsite similar to that further away from the base of a larger tussock. This reflects the increasing gradient in exposure from near the base of the tussock to further away, as documented by Sliva (1997). The temperature gradient measured (Fig. 7 in I) supports this finding. The environmental differences between cardinal points from tussocks observed by Sliva (1997) were reflected in the species probability of presence. The probability of presence for all species studied was lower in the southern than in other directions. The smallest temperature fluctuation in the northern direction (Sliva 1997) may be the reason for the more even responses of species on the distance and shade index.

The species studied differed from each other according to their optimal microsites (Figs. 3, 5 and 6 in I). Therefore the char-

acteristic life cycle of *Eriophorum* tussocks (Fetcher & Shaver 1982) forms a temporal ecological gradient in the vicinity of tussocks and increases the number and variety of microsites for colonizers with varying ecological requirements.

4.1.3 Rewetting promoted development towards wet minerotropic vegetation

This study provides evidence for the assumption (Schouwenaars 1988, Wheeler & Shaw 1995) that conditions wet enough for rapid succession towards closed mire vegetation are only reached by raising the water level so that it is close to the soil surface. In waterlogged conditions Sphagnum had established itself amongst Eriophorum vaginatum tussocks, but in the drier section, the bryophyte species characteristic of disturbed peat surfaces were spreading (II). Inundation, which caused the death of shrub layer vegetation, stopped the development towards "dry heath-like vegetation" or "secondary birch forest community". Earlier findings on successful Sphagnum colonization on or between tussock-building plants in wet conditions comes from the Netherlands (Joosten 1992) and the U.K. (Meade 1992).

The lower nutritional status of the drier rewetted section might also be the reason for the slower compositional change (II), although in this study it is not possible to clearly distinguish the effects of water table level and fertility. The rate of peatland vegetation succession after drainage (Laine et al 1995) and after rewetting (Komulainen et al. 1999) have been shown to be dependent on the fertility of the site: the compositional change is more rapid in nutrient-rich than nutrient-poor sites.

4.1.4 Sphagnum re-introduction promoted the formation of moss carpet

Sphagnum re-introduction succeeded rather well, although the moisture conditions in our experiment did not resemble those typical of natural habitats of *Sphagnum angustifolium*: lawns or low hummocks of relatively dry oligotrophic bogs and fens (Horton et al. 1979, Pakarinen 1979, Gignac & Vitt 1990). The capitulum cover in stem plots one year after re-introduction (Fig. 1 in V) was slightly higher than that found in shortterm trials in Canada (Campeau & Rochefort 1996, Ferland & Rochefort 1997), and the ten-fold cover in capitulum plots showed high potential of capitula for the rapid development of *Sphagnum* carpet.

The higher capitula cover in the drier section (Fig. 1 in V), was contrary to the results from a greenhouse experiment, where Sphagnum angustifolium showed higher regeneration in a water level of -5 cm than in -15 and -25 cm (Campeau & Rochefort 1996). The weak success in the wetter section was a result of peat erosion and the disappearance of mosses due to periodical floodings. This was also observed by Money (1995) and Sliva & (1999). Pfadenhauer Sliva and Pfadenhauer (1999) found that vascular plants can stabilise the peat surface, and thus enhance the success of Sphagnum establishment.

4.2 Carbon dynamics

4.2.1 CO₂ and CH₄ dynamics was controlled by Eriophorum vaginatum

The rewetting had no direct effect on gross photosynthesis of *Eriophorum* (P_G) (III). This was because Eriophorum is a deeprooting species (Metsävainio 1931, Bliss 1956) and therefore it can transfer water from deeper soil layers and keep its stomata open even during periods of low water levels. However, rewetting indirectly increased P_G of the site by promoting an increase in the cover of Eriophorum tussocks and seedlings (II & III). Results from experimental work in arctic tundra similarly showed that in flooded soils at high nitrogen availability the growth of Eriophorum vaginatum is improved by increased tillering (Gebauer et al. 1995).

In intertussocks. total respiration (R_{TOT}) is mainly composed of CO₂ released by aerobic decay of peat; but within Eriophorum tussocks, it also includes dark respiration of plants and oxidation of dead plant material and root exudates. A comparison of intertussocks and tussocks suggests that most of the total respiration of tussocks is derived from recently fixed carbon. During the calibration period and in the control site the R_{TOT} in intertussocks was about 30% of that in tussocks, but only 20% in the rewetted site (III). The importance of new photosynthates in the carbon dynamics of peatlands has been emphasized in recent studies (Charman et al. 1994, Saarinen 1996, Komulainen et al. 1999). In cut-away peatland, where peat is up to thousands of years old and easily decomposable carbon compounds have already been used by microbes (Theander 1954, Hogg 1993), new carbon seems to be even more important than in other peatland ecosystems.

Even more clearly than total respiration, the spatial distribution of methane emissions at the sites was determined by the occurrence of Eriophorum tussocks (IV). The importance of vascular plants for CH₄ flux is also been shown in the studies of Schimel (1995), Granberg (1998), Verville et al. (1998), and Saarnio and Silvola (1999). In cut-away peatland the 3000-7000 year old peat appears to be an unsuitable substrate for methanogenesis. extremely low emissions The CH_4 measured from inter-tussocks - even when the water table had been raised close the soil surface (Fig. 2 in IV) - shows the importance of plants in producing new plant litter and root exudates in the rhizosphere, the substrate for methanogenesis as (Schütz et al. 1991, Whiting & Chanton 1993, Thomas et al. 1996, Huang et al. 1997a, b). The deep roots of Eriophorum (Metsävainio 1931, Bliss 1956) can channel organic substances into anoxic soil layers, even when the water table is low. The difference in methane emissions between tussocks and non-vegetated intertussocks was higher in a cut-away site than between tussocks and moss dominated intertussocks in tussock tundra (Whalen & Reeburgh 1988, Johnson et al. 1996). Whalen and Reeburgh (1988) suggests that the difference in CH₄ emission level between tussocks and intertussocks is a result of more efficient transport inside the aerenchyma. Although the transportation through the aerenchyma pathway of Eriophorum is highly efficient due to the very low oxidation of methane (Frenzel & Rudolph 1998), the higher difference between tussock and intertussocks in a cut-away site indicates that the substrate availability for CH₄ production is more important than the rapidity of transport for CH₄ emissions from cut-away peatland.

The direct effect of raised water table on CH₄ emission from Eriophorum vegetation was shown in the simulation for closed Eriophorum vegetation (Fig. 7b in IV), where CH_4 emission from the moistest section was about three fold more than emission from the dry control area. In intertussocks, the direct effect of rewetting on CH₄ emission was weak. Similarly to CO₂ exchange dynamics, rewetting also had a strong indirect effect upon the CH₄ flux from the rewetted site via the expansion of *Eriophorum* (II, III, IV). A similar indirect effect of rewetting on CH4 emission via the increase of Eriophorum has also been reported from a restored fen previously drained for forestry (Komulainen et al. 1998).

4.2.2 Seasonal variation in CO₂ and CH₄ dynamics was related to sequential leaf development of Eriophorum vaginatum

The seasonal variation in the photosynthetic activity of *Eriophorum* is a consequence of the sequential leaf development characteristic of this species (Robertson & Woolhouse 1984, Jonasson & Chapin 1985, Defoliart et al. 1988, Shaver & Laundre 1997). The growth of leaves formed late in the previous season continues early in the spring, and simultaneous initiation of the first cohort of new leaves enables Eriophorum to develop near maximal potential for photosynthesis early in the season. This potential is maintained through most of the season because new leaves with high photosynthetic capacity gradually replace the overwintered leaves with decreased capacity (Robertson & Woolhouse 1984, Defoliart et al. 1988). The effective temperature sum index (ETI), which was used in the model to explain the seasonal variation of photosynthetic capacity, *Eriophorum*'s rapidly increased in the beginning of the season and reached its highest values in August, when maximal gross photosyntesis (P_G) was also reached in most years (Figs 6 and 7a in III). The moderate decrease in ETI at the end of the season described well the decrease in P_{G} , which was caused mostly by lowered irradiation and temperature. The seasonal variation in P_G was controlled by the same factors as in mires: temperature, irradiation, and the resultant seasonal growth dymanics of plants. Threfore the seasonal pattern was similar to the variation found in pristine peatland ecosystems (Bubier et al. 1998).

A large part of the new carbon, sequestered by the plant itself, is released in respiration, as seen in similar seasonal variation in P_G and R_{TOT} (Fig. 4 in **IV**). During the period of high P_G and consequent high potential substrate levels for methanogenesis, CH₄ emission was also high, if the oxidation of substrate and methanotrophic consumption of CH₄ in the aerobic layer did not restrict it. In mid-August, when P_G started to decrease due to decreasing irradiation and R_{TOT} decreased due to rising water levels, the carbon fixed to plant material became available for methanogenesis via senescence. During the time of high carbon influx into the system, the substrate introduction to the anoxic layers may be higher than the decomposition capacity of the anaerobic processes. Therefore, in addition to dead plant material, the substrate storage accumulated during the season can maintain methanogenesis while the CO₂ influx into the system decreases. This pattern, the loose relationship with lag between CO_2 influx and CH_4 emission, is in accordance with the seasonally increasing trend of potential CH_4 production untill late autumn found in peat of a pristine fen and a pristine bog (Saarnio et al. 1997, Kettunen et al. 1999). The results of Huang et al. (1997b) also suggest that substrates produced during high season may be stored for the later methanogenesis because of the limited size of microbial population.

4.2.3 Seasonal CO₂ balance and net CH₄ flux increased after rewetting and following expansion of Eriophorum vaginatum

The water level before rewetting was deeper than during any of the three following years in the control area as well, and this was reflected in the very low, negative seasonal CO₂ balance (Figs 1, 7a in III) and low CH₄ emissions (Fig. 7a in **IV**). Similarly, a net loss of carbon was measured from a pristine bog in Finland (Alm et al. 1999b) and Sweden (Waddington & Roulet 2000). The net loss of gaseous carbon from the study sites was, however, over 2-3 times greater than the loss from the Finnish bog and 124-184 times greater than from the Swedish bog. The large annual variation of seasonal CO₂ balance at the control site (Fig. 8a in III) as well as the results of Alm et al. (1999b) and Waddington & Roulet (2000) imply that the CO₂ exchange dynamics of peatlands are very sensitive to variations in environmental factors, e.g. water level and temperature, during the growing season. The seasonal methane fluxes were at the same level as those from other northern drained peatlands with deep water table levels (Roulet et al. 1993, Roulet & Moore 1995, Nykänen et al. 1998).

In the seasonal balances of both gaseous forms of carbon there was an increasing trend following rewetting towards the dynamics typical of pristine peatlands. However, the change in CO_2 dynamics was much faster than in CH_4 (**III**, **IV**). Alm et

al. (1999b) estimate that an average seasonal CO₂ balance of 64–76 g C m^{-2} is needed for the long-term average annual carbon accumulation in Finnish bogs, 24.0 ± 0.5 g C m⁻² according to Tolonen & Turunen (1996). The rewetted site with a high water level had already reached this rate in the third year after rewetting (III). The seasonal CH₄ fluxes did not reach the level of seasonal emissions from pristine mires in the same area (southern and middle boreal Fennoskandia) (Saarnio et al. 1997, Nykänen et al. 1998, Waddington & Roulet 2000), or from pristine mires in Minnesota and Michigan (Crill et al. 1992, Dise et al. 1993, Shannon, R.D. & White 1994). The simulation for full Eriophorum cover in a rewetted environment (Fig. 7b in **IV**) also showed lower seasonal emissions, which were at a level measured from pristine bog under exceptionally dry summer conditions (Alm et al. 1999b). This is in accordance with the results from restoration experiments of peatlands drained for forestry in which the seasonal CH₄ emissions, although higher after rewetting, remained at a lower level than the seasonal emissions from pristine peatlands (Komulainen et al. 1998). Similarly lowered emissions with a high water table level following a long dry period have been observed in a pristine bog (Shannon & White 1994). In a laboratory experiment where peat columns were first dried and then rewetted, a similar phenomenon was also observed (Moore & Dalva 1993). It thus seems that following successful restoration, cut-away peatlands can develop towards carbon accumulating peatland ecosystems within a reasonable period of time, but at least during the first years CH₄ emissions could remain at a lower level than those from pristine peatlands.

One potential factor causing the low CH_4 emissions might be a reduced methanogenic population in dry peat, as discussed by Shannon & White (1994). According to a three-year study, they suggested that more than one year is needed to restore methane fluxes following a rela-

tively dry period in pristine peatland. As cut-away peatland has been dry for decades, it is possible that colonization and growth of a methanogenic population takes a considerably longer time than in pristine mires after a shorter dry period. Monitoring for a longer period than the two years covered in this study is needed to assess the CH_4 flux dynamics level of cutaway peatlands after restoration.

4.2.4 CO₂ dynamics in Sphagnum reintroductions was controlled by water table level

Water table level had a dual effect on total respiration (R_{TOT}) of Sphagnum reintroductions. The thickness of the aerobic layer above the water table regulated oxidation of peat and CH₄, as was also seen in the results from the bare peat surfaces (III, **IV**, **V**). This is in accordance with results from various peatland ecosystems (eg. Peterson et al. 1984, Funk et al. 1994, Silvola et al. 1996, Bubier et al. 1998, Nieveen et al. 1998, Komulainen et al. 1999). Because the young Sphagnum reintroductions contained only a small amount of dead moss material, the difference between R_{TOT} of bare peat surfaces and re-introductions consists almost exclusively of the respiration of living moss material. This metabolic activity seemed to have a unimodal response to moisture (Fig. 5a in **V**) like P_G (Fig. 3 in **V**).

The Gaussian form of the response of the photosynthesis to water table level (Fig. 3 in V), which was used to describe environmental moisture similarly to Vourlitis et al. (2000), is in accordance with the response of P_G to moisture content found in earlier studies with the same species (Silvola & Aaltonen 1984, Murray et al. 1989, Silvola 1991). Sphagnum angustifolium (Silvola & Aaltonen 1984, Murray et al. 1989, Silvola 1991) as other Sphagnum species (Titus et al. 1983, Titus & Wagner 1984, Rydin & McDonald 1985, Gaberscik & Martincic 1987, Schipperges & Rydin 1998, Jauhiainen & Silvola 1999) has a unimodal response of photosynthesis to the moisture content. Below the moisture optimum, photosynthesis is restricted by the lack of water for metabolic processes, but when mosses become water saturated, the gas (CO_2 , O_2) diffusion rate to and from chloroplasts limits CO_2 fixation (Proctor 1982, Williams & Flanagan 1996).

The measurements did not show light saturation of instantaneous P_G, even at an irradiation level of over 1500 µmol m⁻² s⁻¹. This was in contrast with the results of Harley et al. (1989), who found light saturation for the net photosynthesis of S. angustifolium already below 500 µmol m⁻² s^{-1} . This may be because, unilike in the earlier study, P_G rate was measured in situ. Inside the moss cover and close to the peat surface, where CO₂ concentration is markedly higher than ambient CO₂ concentration (Sonesson et al. 1992, Tarnawski et al. 1992, Hogg 1993), the availability of CO₂ is not likely to restrict Sphagnum photosynthesis as it has been found to do ambient air concentration in CO_2 (Jauhiainen & Silvola 1999). This indicates that a large number of Sphagnum photosynthesis studies where mosses have been taken out of the moss carpet, (eg. Skre & Oechel 1981, Gerdol et al. 1996, Potter et al. 1996, Schipperges & Rydin 1998), may underestimate the rate of photosynthesis in natural habitats of Sphagna.

4.3.5 Sphagnum re-introduction reduced carbon loss from cut-away peatland

In spite of the mainly negative mean P_N measured in Sphagnum plots during the four-year study, Sphagnum re-introduction caused a functional change and raised CO₂ balance to a higher level than that found in bare peat surfaces (Fig. 6 in V). The found high seasonal variation in the CO₂ dynamics is typical of pristine peatlands (Goodman & Perkins 1959, Bubier et al. 1998, Alm et al. 1999b). Desiccation of mosses in pristine peatlands can also reduce CO₂ balance; the maximum loss of CO₂ from Sphagnum plots was similar to the loss measured in Sphagnum angustifolium lawns of a pristine boreal bog during an exceptionally dry summer (Alm et al. 1999b). However, the maximum P_N of lawns (Alm et al. 1999b) was twice as high as the maximum of capitulum plots, and five times higher than the maximum of stem plots. The reconstructed seasonal balance of capitulum plots in the wetter lower section, the only treatment with a positive balance (Fig. 8 in V), was only one third of the average seasonal CO_2 balance that Alm et al. (1999b) estimated as necessary for the long-term average annual carbon accumulation in Finnish bogs according to Tolonen & Turunen (1996).

The Sphagnum re-introduction experiments in Canada have shown that Sphagnum establishment success is related more to the humidity of microclimate rather than directly to water table level. An east-Canadian group (Quinty & Rochefort 1997, Rochefort & Campeau 1997) has created a restoration method in which a mulch cover reduces evaporation from reintroduced Sphagna and the soil surface, and favours the formation of a moss layer. The method alone, however, is not likely to lead to a regeneration of a carbon accumulating peatland ecosystem if oxic decomposition is not reduced by rewetting, as the CO₂ loss from well establishd but dry Sphagnum carpet showed (Fig. 8 in V). When combined with rewetting, the method is very promising; the water table level is higher and water table level fluctuation is more moderate than those of a rewetted site without mulch cover, because of the lowered evaportion (Price 1997, Price et al. 1998).

The 1996 results (Fig 9a in V), which showed no difference in CH₄ emissions between bare peat surfaces and *Sphagnum* plots, indicates that *Sphagnum* reintroduction does not generate new, easily decomposable substrate for methanogenesis. This is contrary to the results of Roura-Carol & Freeman (1999), who, in laboratory conditions, measured higher CH₄ fluxes in *Sphagnum* cores than in peat cores from which the living Sphagnum had been removed. This contrast is surprising, because the difference in age between living Sphagnum and peat was much smaller in cores taken from a pristine mire (Roura-Carol & Freeman 1999) than in reintroductions (V). In 1997, capitulum cover had decreased from the previous year, and the plots contained dead Sphagnum material. The higher methane emission from capitulum plots with higher cover than from stem plots, might have been caused by methanogenesis promoted by the dead moss material. Because of the conflicting results, the lack of measurements in bare peat surfaces in 1997, and the small data, a larger study is needed to evaluate the importance of Sphagnum reintroduction to CH₄ dynamics of cut-away peatlands.

4.3.6 Restored cut-away peatland is a potential carbon sink and CH_4 source

In Finland alone, which has the world's largest peat harvesting fourth area (Lappalainen 1996), the area of cut-away peatlands is 3000 ha (Selin 1996). If the simulations for bare peat surfaces (III) are generalized for this area, the seasonal CO_2 emission without restoration can be estimated to be $3.8*10^9 - 5.7*10^9$ g CO₂-C annually. If the winter CO₂ loss is 23% of the annual emission as found for a pristine bog (Alm et al. 1999a), the cut-away area would form an annual source for $4.9*10^9$ - $7.4*10^9$ g CO₂-C into the atmosphere. With a 2000 ha annual increase in cutaway area (Selin 1996), seasonal emission will be increasing by $2.5*10^9$ to $3.8*10^9$ g CO_2 -C, or annual emission by $3.2*10^9$ - $4.9 *10^9$ g CO₂-C every coming year. In this area, however, there would be no methane emission from peat strips (IV).

After rewetting, and with dense *Eriophorum* vegetation, the balance would turn positive with an annual carbon accumulation of 31-105 g C m⁻² (**III**, **IV**) if the winter time CO₂ and CH₄ flux estimates for a pristine bog: 23% and 22% of annual CO₂ and CH₄ emissions (Alm et al.

1999a), are valid for cut-away peatlands. This positive carbon balance includes an annual 3 - 5 g C m⁻² methane emission into the atmosphere. Thus, after successful restoration, the Finnish cut-away peatlands (3000 ha) would form an annual sink of carbon for $0.9*10^9$ - $3.1*10^9$ g, and act as a methane source for $0.1*10^9$ g CH₄-C. With a 2 000 ha annual increase in area, the annual increase in the sink woud be $0.6*10^9$ -2.1*10⁹ g C a⁻¹. Because in boreal and temperate zones Eriophorum vaginatum has been found to be a typical dominant species during early-succession in cutaway peatlands (Smart et al. 1989, Salonen 1992, Cooper & McCann 1995, Campeau & Rochefort 1996), the importance of the species in the carbon dynamics of cutaway peatlands may be assumed to be a general phenomenon.

In optimal water level conditions for photosynthesis, the simulated seasonal CO_2 balance estimate for a closed Sphagnum angustifolium carpet was higher than the average for Finnish bogs (Tolonen and Turunen 1996; Alm et al. 1999b), and similar to the estimate in closed Eriophorum vegetation with a high water table level in the same growing season 1996 (III, V). However, according to what is known of the hydrology of cut-away peatlands (e.g. Schouwenaars 1993, Price 1997, Sliva & Pfadenhauer 1999), a simulated situation in which the water table remains at an optimal level over the whole growing season is not easy or even possible to maintain in field conditions.

5. CONCLUSIONS

Although *Eriophorum vaginatum* is a typical bog species, Pfadenhauer & Klötzli (1996) do not consider its mass establishment as an indicator of bog regeneration. If the formation of closed *Sphagnum* carpet or acrotelm (Pfadenhauer & Klötzli 1996, Money & Wheeler 1999) is seen as the main indicator of successful restoration, neither of the sections of the rewetted site had developed into a mire ecosystem during the four-year period after rewetting. However, the results showed that the wetter section of the site had become a net sink of atmospheric carbon during the third year after rewetting (**III**) and both had changed from a net methane sink to a source (**IV**). This functional change towards a mire ecosystem was mainly caused by the expansion of *Eriophorum vaginatum* following rewetting.

The relatively slow colonization of mire plant species, most of which were already present prior to rewetting (II), accords well with the time estimation of the colonization phase in the theoretical model of the restoration process for cut-away peatlands after rewetting (Kuntze & Eggelmann 1981). However, as found in this study (I, III, IV), the fact that the functional change towards a mire ecosystem happened when the site was not fully colonized shows that the phases in the restoration process (Kuntze & Eggelmann 1981) cannot be separated, since mire regeneration is a complex of dynamic and interactive processes.

If the restoration of minerotrophic vegetation is faster than that of ombrotrophic vegetation, as the results of study II and Komulainen et al. (1999) indicate, adding nutrients to these sites could enhance restoration. Furthermore, the fertiliexperiments of Salonen & zation Laaksonen (1994), LeQuéré (1996), and Sliva & Pfadenhauer (1999) show faster colonization and improved establishment of re-introduced Sphagna and other mire species. This type of manipulation is in line with natural mire development where the minerotrophic phase comes before the ombrotrophic phase.

Similarly to the colonization of the vascular plants and bryophytes found in this study (I), *Sphagnum* regeneration from re-introduced fragments strongly benefits from the presence of vascular plants (Ferland & Rochefort 1997, Sliva 1997, Boudreau & Rochefort 1998, Sliva & Pfadenhauer 1999). The results of this

study show that the carbon balance in peat surfaces with re-introduced *Sphagnum* is more sensitive to variation in water table (**V**) than the carbon balance in cut-away peatland dominated by *Eriophorum* (**III**). These results thus support the use of companion species together with *Sphagnum* reintroduction in order to more rapidly regenerate the carbon sink function of the ecosystem.

6. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was mainly financed by the Finnish Cultural Foundation. In addition, Vapo Oy, the Emil Aaltonen Foundation, the University of Helsinki, and the Academy of Finland provided support to the work. I am grateful to them for making the study financially possible.

The study was carried out in the Department of Forest Ecology at the University of Helsinki. I had the pleasure to work in the scientifically inspiring and friendly environment of the mire ecology and peatland forestry group. I am thankful to Prof. Juhani Päivänen for the support that he has given to me ever since I was a second-year student.

As my supervisors, Dr. Jukka Laine and Dr. Harri Vasander have led me into scientific work and taught me a great deal about mire ecology, among other things. Jukka has enthusiastically encouraged me to think critically. I feel privileged to have had the opportunity to work with these two special people, both of whom have a holistic approach to supervising.

Dr. Jukka Alm and Dr. Jan Sliva preexamined this thesis, and Dr. Pekka Pakarinen also read the paper carefully. I thank them for their useful comments and ideas about the future as well.

I thank Dr. Hannu Rita for educating cooperation. The discussions with him were a great help. The gas analysis expertise of Hannu Nykänen and Prof. Pertti Martikainen made convenient to study methane dynamics. The support of Prof. Veijo Kaitala as a leader of the project "Modelling the dynamics of gas exchange in wetlands" is acknowledged. Veli-Matti Komulainen accompanied me during fieldwork, sharing the sunny and the less sunny days. Thank you Veli-Matti for our fruitful and sometimes loud-voised conversations, and your accurancy. Without the field assistance of Tapio Aitolahti, Mia Huopalainen, Jouni Meronen, Anu Mälkonen, and Niko Silvan it would not have be possible to collect all the data. Working together with the Suo-group of Hyytiälä made summers into adventures. My special thanks are due to Anu Kettunen and Dr. Raija Laiho for interesting discussions and helpful comments on analyses and papers, and Silja Aho for her help in the lab. The discussions with Tiina Tonteri about vegetation analysis were fruitful. Prof. Timo Koponen kindly helped me through the last complicated steps of the way. Nancy Seidel examined the language of the summary part.

The field work was done in a cut-away peatland of Vapo Oy in Aitoneva. I warmly thank Veijo Klementti as well as the staff of Vapo in Aitoneva for their encouraging interest and help.

The patience and encouragement of my friends is acknowledged with joyous gratitude. As Hanna, Hannele, Heba, Pimma, Päivi, Tari, and Nick know, I would not have survived as a balanced individual without them. Finally, I want to thank my aunt, Kielo Viikari, and my parents, Vuokko and Helmer Tuittila, for their loving support. My father showed me the beauty of peatlands when I was a little girl and since then he has encouraged me on the road to learning. My mother has endlessly shown interest and always been there for me.

7. REFERENCES

- Aerts, R., Verhoeven, J.T.A. & Whigham, D.F. 1999: Plant-mediated controls on nutrient cycling in temperate fens and bogs. -Ecography 80:2170-2181.
- Ahti, T., Hämet-Ahti, L. & Jalas, J. 1968: Vegetation zones and their sections in northwestern Europe. - Ann. Bot. Fennici 5:169-211.
- Alm 1997: CO_2 and CH_4 fluxes and carbon balance in the atmospheric interaction of boreal peatlands. - University of Joensuu, Publications in Science 44: 1-34.
- Alm, J., Saarnio, S., Nykänen, H., Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P.J. 1999a: Winter CO₂, CH₄ and N₂O fluxes on some natural and drained boreal peatlands. - Biogeochemistry 44:163-186.

- Alm, J., Schulman, L., Walden, J., Nykänen, H., Martikainen, P.J. & Silvola, J. 1999b: Carbon balance of a boreal bog during a year with an exceptionally dry summer. -Ecology 80:161-174.
- Alm, J., Talanov, A., Saarnio, S., Silvola, J., Ikkonen, E., Aaltonen, H., Nykänen, H. & Martikainen, P.J. 1997: Reconstruction of the carbon balance for microsites in a boreal oligotrophic pine fen, Finland. - Oecologia 110:423-431.
- Asplund, D. 1996: Energy use of peat. In: Lappalainen, E., Global peat resources. International Peat Society, Jyskä, Finland, pp. 319-325.
- Bartlett, K.B., Crill, B.M., Sass, R.L., Harris, R.C. & Dice, N.B. 1992: Methane emissions from tundra environments in the Yukon-Kuskiwim delta, Alaska. - J. Geophys. Res. 97:16645-16660.
- Bérubé, M-E. & Lavoie, C. 2000: The natural revegetation of a vacuum-mined peatland: Eight years of monitoring. Can. Field-Nat. 114: 279-286.
- Bergman, I., Svensson, B.H. & Nilson, M. 1998: Regualtion of methane production in a Swedish acid mire by pH, temperature and substrate. - Soil Biol. Biochem. 30:729-741.
- Billings, W.D., Luken, J.O., Mortensen, D.A. & Peterson, K.M. 1982: Arctic tundra: A source or sink for atmospheric carbon dioxide in changing environment. -Oecologia 53:7-11.
- Billings, W.D., Luken, J.O., Mortensen, D.A. & Peterson, K.M. 1983: Increasing atmospheric carbon dioxide: possible effects on arctic tunda. - Oecologia 58:286-289.
- Bliss, L.C. 1956: A comparison of plant development in microenvironments of arctic and alpine tundras. - Ecol. Monogr. 26:303-337.
- Blunier, T., Chappellaz, J., Schanger, J., Stauffer, B. & Raynoud, D. 1995: Variations in atmospheric methane consentration during the Holocene epoch. -Nature 374:46-49.
- Boudreau, S. & Rochefort, L. 1998: Restoration of post-mined peatlands: effect of vascular pioneer species on *Sphagnum* establishment. - In: Malteter, T., Johnson, K. & Stewart, J., Peatland restoration & reclamation, proceedings of international peat symposium 14-18 July 1998 Duluth, Minnesota. International Peat Society, Duluth, pp. 39-43.

- Bubier, J.L. 1995: The relationship of vegetation to methane emission and hydrochemical gradients in northern peatlands. J. Ecol. 83(3):403-420.
- Bubier, J.L, Costello, A., Moore, T.R., Roulet, N.T. & Savage, K. 1993a: Microtopography and methane flux in boreal peatlands, northern Ontario, Canada. - Can. J. Bot. 71:1056-1063.
- Bubier, J.L., Crill, P.M., Moore, T.R., Savage, K. & Varner, R.K. 1998: Seasonal patterns and controls on net ecosystem CO₂ exhange in a boreal peatland complex. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 12:703-714.
- Bubier, J.L, Moore, T., R, Bellisario, L. & Comer, N., T 1995: Ecological controls on methane emissions from a northern peatland complex in the zone of discontinuous permafrost, Manitoba, Canada. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 9:455-470.
- Bubier, J.L., Moore, T.R. & Roulet, N.T. 1993b: Methane emissions from wetlands in the midboreal region of northern Ontario, Canada. - Ecology 74:2240-2254.
- Bugnon, J.-L., Rochefort, L. & Price, J.S. 1997: Field experiment of *Sphagnum* reintroduction on a dry abandoned peatland in eastern Canada. - Wetlands 17:4.
- Butler, A. Dinel, H. & Lévesque, P.E.M. 1994:
 Effects of physical, chemical and botanical characteristics of peat on carbon gas fluxes.
 Soil Science 158: 365-374.
- Campbell, D.R., Rochefort, L. & Lavoie, C. 2000: The colonization potential of peatland plants recolonising post-vacuum-extracted bogs. In: Rochefort, L. & Daigle, J.-Y. (eds.) Sustaining our peatlands, proceedings of the 11th International Peat Congress, 6-12August 2000 Quebec City, Canada. International Peat Society, Edmonton, pp. 670-674.
- Campeau, S. & Rochefort, L. 1996: *Sphagnum* regeneration on bare peat surfaces: field and greenhouse experiments. J. Appl. Ecol. 33:599-608.
- Cao, M., Marshall, S. & Gregson, K. 1996: Global carbon exchange and methane emission from natural wetlands: Application of a process-based model. - J. Geophys. Res. 101:14399-14414.
- Charman, D.J., Aravena, R. & Warner, B.G. 1994: Carbon dynamics in a forested peatland in north-eastern Ontario, Canada. -J. Ecol. 82:55-62.

- Christensen, T.R., Jonasson, S., Michelsen, A., Callaghan, T.V. & Havström, M. 1998: Environmental controls on soil respiration in the Eurasian and Greenland arctic. J. Geophys. Res. 103: 29015-29021.
- Clymo, R.S. 1984: The limits to peat bog growth. - Phil. Trans. R. Soc. Lond. B 303:605-645.
- Clymo, R.S. 1998: *Sphagnum*, the peatland carbon economy, and climate change. In: Bates, J.W., Ashton, N.W. & Duckett, J.G. (eds.), Bryology for twenty-first century. Maney Publishing and the Brittish Bryological Society, Leeds, pp. 361-368.
- Clymo, R.S., Turunen, J. & Tolonen, K. 1998: Carbon accumulation in peatlands. - Oikos 81:368-388.
- Conrad, R. 1989: Control of methane production in terrestrial ecosystems. - In: Andreae, M.O. & Schimmel, D.S. (eds.), Exchange of trace gases between terrestrial ecosystems and the atmosphere. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, New York, Briabane, Toronto, Singapore, pp. 39-58.
- Cooper, A. & McCann, T. 1995: Machine peat cutting and land use change on blanket bog in Northern Ireland. - J. Environ. Manage. 43:153-170.
- Crill, P.M., Bartlett, K.B., Harriss, R.C., Gorham, E., Verry, E.S., Sebacher, D.I., Madzar, R. & Sanner, W. 1988: Methane fluxes from Minnesota peatlands. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 2:371-384.
- Crill, P., Bartlett, K. & Roulet, N. 1992: Methane flux from boreal peatlands. - Suo 43:173-182.
- Curran, P.L. & MacNaeidhe, F.S. 1986: Weed invasion of milled-over bog. - Weed Research 26:45-50.
- Defoliart, L.S., Griffith, M., Chapin, F.S. & Jonasson, S. 1988: Seasonal patterns of photosynthesis and nutrient storage in *Eriophorum vaginatum* L., and arctic sedge. - Funct. Ecol. 2:185-194.
- Desrochers, A., Rochefort, L. & Savard, J.-P., L 1998: Avian recolonization of eastern Canadian bogs after peat mining. - Can. J. Zool. 76:989-997.
- Dise, N.B., Gorham, E. & Verry, E.S. 1993: Environmental factors controlling methane emissions from peatlands in northern Minnesota. - J. Geophys. Res. 98:10583-10594.
- Elling, A., E & Knighton, M., D 1984: Sphagnum moss recovery after harves in a

Minnesota bog. - J. Soil Water Conserv. 39:209-211.

- Eurola, S., Hicks, S. & Kaakinen, E. 1984: Key to Finnish mire types. - In: Moore, P.D. (ed.), European mires. Academic Press, London, pp. 11-117.
- Famous, N.C., Spencer, M. & Nilsson, H. 1991: Revegetation patterns in harvested peatlands in central and eastern North America. - In: Grubich, D.N. & Malteter, T.J. (eds.), Proceedings of the International Peat Symposium Peat and peatlands: The resource and its utilization. Duluth, Minnesota, USA. International Peat Society, Duluth, pp. 48-66.
- Ferland, C. & Rochefort, L. 1997: Restoration techniques for *Spaghnum*-dominated peatland. - Can. J. Bot. 75:1110-1118.
- Fetcher, N. & Shaver, G., R 1982: Growth and tillering patterns within tussock of *Eriophorum vaginatum.* - Holarctic Ecology 5:180-186.
- Franzen, L.G., Chen, D. & Klinger, L. 1996: Prinsiples for a climate reguation mechanism during the late Phanerozoic era, based on carbon fixation in peat forming wetlands. - Ambio 25:435-442.
- Frenzel, P. & Rudolph, J. 1998: Methane emission from a wetland plant: the role of CH_4 oxidation in *Eriophorum*. - Plant and Soil 202:27-32.
- Frilander, P., Leinonen, A. & Alakangas, E. 1996: Peat production technology. - In: Vasander, H. (ed.), Peatlands in Finland. Finnish Peatland Society, Helsinki, Finland, pp. 99-106.
- Frolking, S.E., Bubier, J.L., Moore, T.R., Ball, T., Bellisaro, L.M., Bhardwaj, A., Carroll, P., Crill, P.M., Lafleur, P.M., McCaughey, J.H., Roulet, N.T., Suyker, A.E., Verma, S.B., Waddington, J.M. & Whiting, G.J. 1998: Relationship between ecosystem productivity and photosynthetically active radiation for northern peatlands. - Glob. Biogeochem. Cycle 12:115-126.
- Funk, D.W., Pullman, E.R., Peterson, K.M., Crill, P. & Billings, D.W. 1994: Influence of water table on carbon dioxide, carbon monoxide, and methane fluxes from taiga bog microcosms. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 8:271-278.
- Gaberscik, A. & Martincic, A. 1987: Seasonal dynamics of net photosyntesis and productivity of *Sphagnum papillosum*. -Lindbergia 13:105-110.

- Gardner, B.L., Chapin, F.S. & Shaver, G.R. 1986: Reproduction of *Eriophorum vaginatum* by seed in Alascan tussock tundra. - J. Ecol. 74:1-18.
- Gebauer, R.L.E., Reynolds, J.F. & Tenhunen, J.D. 1995: Growth and allocation of the arctic sedges *Eriophorum angustifolium* and *E. vaginatum*: effects of variable soil oxygen and nutrient availability. -Oecologia 104:330-339.
- Gerdol, R., Bonora, A., Gualandri, R. & Pancaldi, S. 1996: CO₂ exchange, photosynthetic pigment composition, and cell ultrastructure of *Sphagnum mosses* during dehydration and subsequent rehydration. - Can. J. Bot. 74:726-734.
- Gignac, L., Dennis. & Vitt, D., H 1990: Habitat limitations of *Sphagnum* along climatic, chemical, and physical gradients in mires of Western Canada. - The Bryologist 93:7-22.
- Gimingham, C.H. 1960: Biological flora of the British Isles. *Calluna vulgaris* (L.) Hull. - J. Ecol. 48:455-483.
- Glenn, S., Heyes, A. & Moore, T. 1993: Carbon dioxide and methane emissions from drained peatland soils, southern Quebec. -Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 7:247-258.
- Goodman, G.T. & Perkins, D.F. 1959: Mineral uptake and retention in cotton-grass (*Eriophorum vaginatum* L.). - Nature 184:467-468.
- Gorham, E. 1991: Northern peatlands: role in the carbon cycle and probable responses to climatic warming. - Ecol. Appl. 1:182-195.
- Granberg, G. 1998: Environmental control of methane emissions from boreal mires: experimental data and model simulations. -Acta Universitatis Agriculturae Sueciae Silvestria 83:1-28.
- Grime, J.P. 1977: Evidence for the existence of three primary strategies in plants and its relevance to ecological and evolutionary theory. - The American Naturalist 111:1169-1194.
- Grosvernier, P., Matthey, Y. & Buttler, A. 1995: Microclimate and physical properties of peat: new clues to the understanding bog restoration process In: Wheeler, B.D., Shaw, S.C., Fojt, W.J. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. Proceedings of the Ecological Society Mire Symposium, Sheffield. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 435-450.
- Grosvernier, P., Matthey, Y. & Buttler, A. 1997: Growth potential of three *Sphagnum*

species in relation to water table level and peat properties with implications for their restoration in cut-over bogs. - J. Appl. Ecol. 34:471-483.

- Göttlich, K.H., Richard, K.-H., Kuntze, H., Eggelsmann, R., Günthe, J., Eichelsdörfer, D. & Briemle, G. 1993: Mire utilisation. -In: Heathwaite, A.L. & Göttlich, K. (eds.), Mires. Processes, exploitation and conservation. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 325-415.
- Harley, P.C., Tenhunen, J.D., Murray, K.J. & Beyers, J. 1989: Irradiance and temperature effects on photosynthesis of tussock tundra *Sphagnum* mosses from the foothils of the Philip Smith Mountains, Alaska. -Oecologia 79:251-259.
- Harris, R.C., Gorham, E., Sebacher, D.I., Bartlett, K.B. & Flebbe, P.A. 1985: Methane flux from northern peatlands. -Nature 315:652-654.
- Hoemer, D.W. & Lemenshaw, S. 1989: Applied logistic regression. - John Wiley & Sons Ltd., London. pp.
- Hogg, E.H. 1993: Decay potential of hummock and hollow *Sphagnum* peats at different depths in Swedish raised bog. - Oikos 66:269-278.
- Horton, D.G., Vitt, D.H. & Slack, N.G. 1979: Habitates of circumboreal-subarctic *Sphagna*: I. A quantitative analysis and review of species in the Caribu Mountains, northern Alberta. - Can. J. Bot. 57:2283-2317.
- Huang, Y., Sass, R.L. & Fisher, F.M., Jr. 1997a: Methane emissions from Texas rice paddy soils.
 1. Quantitative multi-year dependence of CH₄ emission on soil, cultivar and grin yield. - Glob. Change Biol. 3:479-489.
- Huang, Y., Sass, R.L. & Fisher, F.M. 1997b: Methane emission from Texas rise baddy soils. 2. Seasonal contribution of rise biomass production to methane emission. -Glob. Change Biol. 3:491-500.
- Huopalainen, M., Tuittila, E.-S., Laine, J. & Vasander, H. 1998: A seed and spore bank in a cut-away peatland twenty years after abandonment. - International Peat Journal 8:42-51.
- Immirzi, C.P., Maltby, E. & Clymo, R.S. 1992: The global status of peatlands and their role in carbon cycling. A report for the Friends of the Earth by the Wetland Ecosystems Research Group, Department of Geology,

University of Exeter. - Friends of the Earth, London. pp.

- Ingram, H.A.P. 1983: Hydrology. In: Gore, A.P.J. (ed.), Ecosystems of the world. 4A. Mires: Swamp, bog, fen and moor. Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 67-158.
- Jauhiainen, J. & Silvola, J. 1999: Photosynthesis of *Sphagnum fuscum* at long-term raised CO₂ concentrations. - Ann. Bot. Fennici 36:11-19.
- Johnson, L.C., Damman, A.W.H. & Malmer, N. 1990: Sphagnum macrostructure as an indicator of decay and compaction in peat cores from an ombrotrophic South Swedish peat-bog. - J. Ecol. 78:633-647.
- Johnson, L.C., Shaver, G.R., Giblin, A.E., Nadelhoffer, K.J., Rastetter, E.R., Laundre, J.A. & Murray, G.L. 1996: Effects of drainage and temperature on carbon balance of tussock tundra microcosms. - Oecologia 108:737-748.
- Jonasson, S. & Chapin, F.S., III 1985: Significance of sequential leaf development for nutrient balance of the cotton sedge, *Eriophorum vaginatum* L. - Oecologia 67:511-518.
- Joosten, H. 1992: Bog regeneration in the Netherlands: A review. - In: Bragg, O.M., Hulme, P.D., Ingram, H.A.P. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Peatland ecosystems and man: An impact assessment. Depatment of Biological Science, University of Dundee, Dundee, UK, pp. 367-373.
- Joosten, H. 1995: Time to regenerate: Longterm perspectives of raised bog regeneration with special emphasis on paleoecological studies. - In: Wheeler, B.D., Shaw, S.C., Fojt, W.J. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. Wiley, Chichester, pp. 379-404.
- Kettunen, A., Kaitala, V., Lehtinen, A., Lohila,
 A., Alm, J., Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P.J.
 1999: Methane production and oxidation potentials in relation to water table fluctuation in two boreal mires. Soil Biol. Biochem. 31:1741-1749.
- Kim, J. & Verma, S.B 1992: Soil surface CO₂ flux in a Minnesota peatland. -Biogeochemisty 18:37-51.
- Komulainen, V.-M., Nykänen, H., Martikainen, P.J. & Laine, J. 1998: Short-term effect of restoration on vegetation change and methane emissions from peatlands drained for forestry in Southern Finland. - Can. J. For. Res. 28:402-411.

- Komulainen, V.-M., Tuittila, E.-S., Vasander, H. & Laine, J. 1999: Restoration of drained peatlands in southern Finland: initials effects on vegetation change and CO₂ balance. - J. Appl. Ecol. 36:634-648.
- Koponen 1986: Lehtisammalten määritysopas. -University of Helsinki, Department of Botany, Helsinki. 118 pp.
- Kuntze, H. & Eggelmann, R. 1981: Zur Schutzfähigkeit nordwestdeutscher Moore. (Summary: The ability of bog protection in Northwest Germany). - Telma 11:197-212.
- Laine, J., Minkkinen, K., Laiho, R., Tuittila, E-S. & Vasander, H. 2000: Suokasvit turpeen tekijät. (Abstact: Mire vegetion and peat formation). - Helsingin yliopiston metsäekologian laitoksen julkaisuja 24:1-47.
- Laine, J., Vasander, H. & Laiho, R. 1995: Long-term effects of water level drawdown on the vegetation of drained pine mires in southern Finland. - J. Appl. Ecol. 32:785-802.
- Lappalainen 1996: Global Peat Resources. -International Peat Society, Jyskä, Finland. 359 p.
- Lavoie, C. & Rochefort, L. 1996: The natural revegetation of a harvested peatland in southern Quebec: A spatial and dendroecological analysis. - Ecoscience 3:101-111.
- LeQuéré, D. 1996: Effect of fertilization on plant establishment during bog restoration. -In: Fourth annual Canadian peatland restoration workshop, Université Laval, Quebec city, Canada, July 13th-14th, 1996. Schedule and abstracts. University of Laval, Quebec, pp. 30-31.
- Martikainen, P.J., Nykänen, H., Alm, J. & Silvola, J. 1995: Change in fluxes of carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide due to forest drainage of mire sires of different trophy. - Plant and Soil 168-169:571-577.
- Meade, R. 1992: Some early changes following the rewetting of a vegetated cut-over peatland surface at Danes Moss, Cheshire, UK, and their relevance to conservation management. - Biol. Conserv. 61:31-40.
- Metsävainio, K. 1931: Untersuchungen über das Wurzelsystem der Moorpflanzen. - Annales Botanici Societatis Zoologicae-Botanicae Fennicae 'Vanamo' 1:1-422.
- Money, R.P. 1995: Re-establishment of a *Sphagnum*-dominated flora on cut-over lowland raised bogs. In: Wheeler, B.D.,

Shaw, S.C., Fojt, W.J. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 405-422.

- Money, R.P. & Wheeler, B.D. 1999: Some critical questions concerning the restorability of damaged raised bogs. -Appl. Veg. Sci. 2:107-116.
- Moore, T.R. & Dalva, M. 1993: The influence of temperature and water table position on carbon dioxide and methane emissions from laboratory columns of peatland soils. -Journal of Soil Science 44:651-664.
- Moore, T.R. & Knowles, R. 1989: The influence of water table levels on methane and carbon dioxide emissions from peatland soils. Can. J. Soil Sci. 69:33-38.
- Moore, T.R. & Knowles, R. 1990: Methane emissions from fen, bog and swamp peatlands of Quebec. - Biogeochemistry 11:45-61.
- Moosavi, S.C. & Crill, P.M. 1998: CH₄ oxidation by tundra wetlands as measured by a selective inhibitor technique. - J. Geophys. Res. 103:29,093-29,106.
- Murray, K.J., Harley, P.C., Beyers, J., Waltz, H. & Tenhunen, J.D. 1989: Water content effects on photosynthetic responce of *Sphagnum* mosses from the foothills of the Philip Smith Mountains, Alaska. -Oecologia 79:244-250.
- Nieveen, J.P., Jacobs, C.M.J. & Jacobs, A.F.G. 1998: Diuranl and seasonal variation of carbon dioxide exchage from former true raised bog. - Glob. Change Biol. 4:823-833.
- Nykänen, H., Alm, J., Lång, K., Silvola, J. & Martikainen, P.J. 1995: Emissions of CH₄, N₂O and CO₂ from a virgin fen and a fen drained for grassland in Finland. - J. Biogeogr. 22:351-357.
- Nykänen, H., Alm, J., Silvola, J., Tolonen, K. & Martikainen, P.J. 1998: Methane fluxes on boreal peatlands of different fertility and the effect of long-term experimental lowering of the water table on flux rates. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 12:53-69.
- Nyrönen, T. 1996: Peat production. In: Lappalainen, E., Global peat resources. International Peat Society, Jyskä, Finland, pp. 315-318.
- Pakarinen, P. 1979: Ecological indicators and species groups of bryophytes in boreal peatlands. - In: Proceedings of the International Symposium on Classifications of Peat and Peatlands Hyytiälä Finland,

September 17-21, 1979. International Peat Society, Helsinki, pp. 121-134.

- Peterson, K.M., Billings, W.D. & Reynolds, D.N. 1984: Influence of water table and atmospheric CO_2 consentration on carbon balance of arctic tunda. Arctic and Alpine Research 16:331-335.
- Pfadenhauer, J. & Klötzli, F. 1996: Restoration experiments in middle European wet terrestrial ecosystems: an overview. -Vegetatio 126:101-115.
- Poole, D.K. & Miller, P.C. 1982: Carbon dioxide flux from tree arctic tundra types in north-central Alaska, U.S.A. - Arctic and Alpine Research 14:27-32.
- Poschlod, P. 1992: Development of vegetation in peat-mined areas in some bogs in the foothills of the Alps. - In: Bragg, O.M., Hulme, P.D., Ingram, H.A.P., & Robertson, A. (eds.) Peatland ecosystem and man: An impact assessment. Department of Biological Studies, University of Dundee, pp. 287-290.
- Poschlod, P. 1995: Diaspore rain and diaspore bank in raised bogs and implications for the restoration of peat-mined sites. - In: Wheeler, B.D., Shaw, S.C., Fojt, W.J. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 471-494.
- Poschlod, P. & Pfadenhauser, J. 1989: Regeneration vegetativer Sproβteilchen von Torfmoosen - Eine vergleichende Studie an neun Sphagnum-Arten (Summary: Regeneration of vegetative parts of peat mosses - a comparative study of nine Sphagnum species). - Telma 19:77-88.
- Potter, L., Foot, J.P., Caporn, S.J.M. & Lee, A.J. 1996: Responces of four *Sphagnum* species to acute ozone fumigation. - J. Bryol. 19:19-32.
- Price, J. 1996: Hydrology and microclimate of partially restored cutover bog, Quebec. -Hydrol. Process. 10:1263-1272.
- Price, J. 1997: Soil moisture, water tension, and water table relatioships in a managed cutover bog. - J. Hydrol. 202:21-32.
- Price, J., Rochefort, L. & Quinty, F. 1998: Energy and moisture considerations on cutover peatlands: surface microtopography, mulch cover and Sphagnum regeneration. - Ecological Engineering 10:293-312.
- Proctor, M.C.F. 1982: Physiological ecology: water relations, light and temperature

responces, carbon balance. - In: Smith, A.J.E. (ed.), Bryophyte ecology. Chapman and Hall, London, pp. 333-381.

- Quinty, F. & Rochefort, L. 1997: Plant reintroduction on a harvesed peat bog. - In: Trettin, C.C., Jurgensen, M.F., Grigal, D.F. & Jeglum, J.K. (eds.), Northern forested wetlands. Lewis publishers, New York, pp. 133-145.
- Robertson, K., P & Woolhouse, H., W 1984: Studies of the seasonal cource of carbon uptake of *Eriophorum vaginatum* in a moorland habitat II. The seasonal cource of photosynthesis. - J. Ecol. 72:685-700.
- Rochefort, L. & Campeau, S. 1997: Rehabilitation work on post-harvested bogs in south eastern Canada. - In: Parkyn, L., Stoneman, R.E. & Ingram, H.A.P. (eds.), Conserving peatlands. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 287-294.
- Rochefort, L., Gauthier, R. & Lequéré, D. 1995: *Sphagnum* regeneration - towards an optimisation of bog restoration. - In: Wheeler, B.D., Shaw, S.C., Fojt, W.J. & Robertson, R.A. (eds.), Restoration of temperate wetlands. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, pp. 423-434.
- Roderfeld, H., Kuntze, H. & Schwaar, J. 1993: Vegetationsversuche mit Bunkerde - ein Beitrag zur Wiederbesiedlung teilabgetorfer Hochmoore mit hochmooretypichen Pflanzen (Summary: Vegetationtrials on top-spits - a study, conserning the revegetation of cutover raised bogs with typical mire plants). - Telma 23:163-180.
- Roulet, N.T. & Moore, T.R. 1995: The effect of forestry drainage practices on the emission of methane from northen peatlands. - Can. J. For. Res. 25:491-499.
- Roulet, N.T., Ash, R., Quinton, W. & Moore, T.R. 1993: Methane flux from drained northern peatlands: Effect of a persistent water table lowering on flux. - Glob. Biogeocem. Cycle 7:749-769.
- Roura-Carol, M. & Freeman, C. 1999: Methane release from peat soils: effects of Sphagnum and Juncus. - Soil Biol. Biogeochem. 31:323-325.
- Ruuhijärvi, R. 1982: Mire complex types in Finland. - In: Laine, J. (ed.), Peatlands and their utilization in Finland. Finnish Peatland Society, Helsinki, pp. 24-28.
- Rydin, H. & McDonald, A.J.S. 1985: Photosyntheis in *Sphagnum* at different water contents. - J. Bryol. 13:579-584.

- Saarinen, T. 1996: Biomass and production of two vascular plants in a boreal mesothrophic fen. - Can. J. Bot. 74:934-938.
- Saarnio, S. & Silvola, J. 1999: Effects of increased CO₂ and N on CH₄ efflux from a boreal mire: a growth chamber experiment.
 Oecologia 119:349-356.
- Saarnio, S., Alm, J., Silvola, J., Lohila, A., Nykänen, H. & Martikainen, P.J. 1997: Seasonal variation in CH₄ emissions and production and oxidation potentials at microsites on an oligotrophic pine fen. -Oecologia 110:414-422.
- Sagot, C. & Rochefort, L. 1996: Tolérance des Sphagnes à la dessiccation. - Chryptogamie, Bryol. Lichénol 17:171-183.
- Salonen, V. 1987a: Kasvillisuuden uudistumisesta turvetuotantoa varten raivatulla alueella Ähtärin Mustasuolla (Summary: Revegetation of an area of Mustasuo-mire after clearing for peat harvesting). - Suo 38:1-3.
- Salonen, V. 1987b: Relationship between the seed rain and establishment of vegetation in two areas abandoned after peat harvesting. Holarctic Ecology 10:171-174.
- Salonen, V. 1990: Early plant succession in two abandoned cut-over peatland areas. -Holarctic Ecology 13:217-223.
- Salonen, V. 1992: Plant colonization of harvested peat surfaces. - Biological Research Reports from University of Jyväskylä 29:1-29.
- Salonen, V. & Laaksonen, M. 1994: Effects of fertilization, liming, watering and tillage on plant colonization of bare peat surfaces. -Ann. Bot. Fennici 31:29-36.
- Salonen, V. & Setälä, H. 1992: Plant colonization of bare peat surface - relative importance of seed availability and soil. -Ecography 15:199-204.
- Salonen, V., Penttinen, A. & Särkkä, A. 1992: Plant colonization of a bare peat surface: population changes and spatial patterns. -Journal of Vegetation Science 3:113-118.
- Schimel, J.P. 1995: Plant transport and methane production as controls on methane flux from arctic wet meadow tundra. -Biogeochemistry 28:183-200.
- Schipperges, B. & Rydin, H. 1998: Response of photosynthesis of *Sphagnum* species from contrasting microhabitats to tissue water content and repeated desiccation. - New Phytologist 140:677-684.

- Schouwenaars, J.M. 1993: Hydrological differences between bogs and bog-relicts and consequences for bog restoration. Hydrobiologia 265:217-224.
- Schouwenaars, J., M 1988: The impact of water management upon groundwater fluctuation in a disturbed bog relict. - Acricultural Water Management 14:439-449.
- Schütz, H., Schröder, P. & Rennenberg, H. 1991: Role of plants in regulating the methane flux to the atmosphere. - In: Sharkey, T.D., Holland, E.A. & Mooney, H.A. (eds.), Trace gas emissions by plants. Academic Press, San Diego, California, USA, pp. 29-63.
- Selin, P. 1996: Many uses for peatland cutaway areas. - In: Vasander, H. (ed.), Peatlands in Finland. Finnish Peatland Society, Helsinki, pp. 128-129.
- Shannon, C. & Weaver, W. 1948: The mathematical theory of communication. -University of Illinois Press, Urbana. 117 p.
- Shannon, R.D. & White, J.R. 1994: A threeyear study of controls on methane emissions from two Michigan peatlands. -Biogeochemistry 27(1):35-60.
- Shaver, G.R. & Laundre, J. 1997: Exertion, elongation, and senescence of leaves of *Eriophorum vaginatum* and *Carex bigelowii* in Northern Alaska. - Glob. Change Biol. 3 (Suppl.1):146-157.
- Silvola, J. 1991: Moisture dependence of CO₂ exchange and its recovery after drying in sertain boreal forest and peat mosses. Lindbergia 17:5-10.
- Silvola, J. & Aaltonen, H. 1984: Water content and photosynthesis in the peat mosses *Sphagnum fuscum* and *Sphagnum angustifolium.* - Ann. Bot. Fennici 21:1-6.
- Silvola, J., Alm, J., Ahlholm, U., Nykänen, H. & Martikainen, P.J. 1996: CO₂ fluxes from peat in boreal mires under varying temperature and moisture conditions. - J. Ecol. 84:219-228.
- Silvola, J., Välijoki, J. & Aaltonen, H. 1985: Effect of draining and fertilization on soil respiration at three ameliorated peatland sites. - Acta Forestalia Fennica 191:1-32.
- Sjörs, H. 1991: Phyto- and necromass above and below ground in a fen. - Holarctic Ecology 14:208-218.
- Skre, O. & Oechel, W.C. 1981: Moss functioning in different taiga ecosystems in interior Alaska. - Oecologia 48:50-59.

- Sliva, J. 1997: Renaturierung von industriell abgetorften Hochmooren am Beispiel der Kendlmühlfilzen. - Herbert Utz Verlag Wissenschaft, München. 221 p.
- Sliva, J. & Pfadenhauer, J. 1999: Restoration of cut-over raised bogs in southern Germanya comparison of methods. - Appl. Veg. Sci. 2:137-148.
- Smart, P., Jane., Wheeler, B.D. & Willis, A.J. 1989: Revegetation of peat excavations in a derelict raised bog. - New Phytologist 111:733-748.
- Smith, A.J.E. 1978: The moss flora of Britain and Ireland. - Cambridge University Press, Cambridge. 706 pp.
- Sonesson, M., Gherke, C. & Tjus, M. 1992: CO₂ environment, microclimate and photosynthetic characteristic of the moss *Hylocomium splendens* in a subarctic habitat. - Oecologia 92:23-29.
- Sundh, I., Mikkelä, C., Nilsson, M. & Svensson, B.R. 1995: Potential aerobic methane oxidation in a *Sphagnum*-dominated peatland: Controlling factors and relation to methane emission. - Soil Biol. Biochem. 27(6):829-837.
- Svensson, B.H. & Rosswall, T. 1984: In situ methane production from acid peat in plant communities with different moisture regimes in a subartic mire. - Oikos 43:341-350.
- Szumigalski, A., R & Bayley, S., E 1996: Decoposition along a bog to a rich fen gradient in central Alberta, Canada. - Can. J. Bot. 74:573-581.
- Söyrinki, N., Salmela, R. & Suvanto, J. 1977: The forest and mire vegetation of the Oulanka National Park, Northern Finland. Acta Forestalia Fennica 154:1-160.
- Tallis, J.H. 1983: Changes in wetland communities. - In: Gore, A.J.P. (ed.), Ecosystems of the world. 4A. Mires: swamp, bog, fen and moor. Elsevier scientific publishing company, Amsterdam, pp. 311-347.
- Tarnawski, M., Melick, D., Roser, D., Adamson, E., Adamson, H. & Seppelt, R. 1992: In situ carbon dioxide level in cushion and turf forms of Grimmia antharctici at Casey Station, East Antharctica. - J. Bryol. 17:241-249.
- ter Braak, C.J.F. 1987: Ordination. In: Jongman, R.H., ter Braak, C.J.F. & van Tongeren, O.F.R. (eds.), Data analysis in

community and landscape ecology. Pudoc, Wageningen, pp. 91-173.

- ter Braak, C.J.F. 1988: CANOCO an extension of DECORANA to analyze species environment relationships. - Vegetatio 75:159-160.
- Theander, O. 1954: Studies on *Sphagnum* peat.
 III. A quantitative study on the carbohydrate constitues of *Sphagnum* mosses and *Sphagnum* peat. Acta Chemica Scandinavica 8:989-1000.
- Thomas, K., Benstead, J., Davies, K.L. & Lloid, D. 1996: Role of wetland plants in the diurnal control of CH_4 and CO_2 fluxes in peat. - Soil Biol. Biochem. 28:17-23.
- Titus, J.E. & Wagner, D.J. 1984: Carbon balance for two *Sphagnum* mosses: water balance resolves a physiological paradox. -Ecology 65:1765-1774.
- Titus, J.E., Wagner, D., J & Stephens, M., D 1983: Contrasting water realtions of photosynthesis of two *Sphagnum* mosses. -Ecology 64:1109-1115.
- Tolonen, K. & Turunen, J. 1996: Accumulation of carbon in mires of Finland and implications for climatic change. - The Holocene 6:41-48.
- Turunen, J., Tomppo, E., Tolonen, K. & Reinikainen, A. 2000. Estimating carbon accumulating rates of undrained mires in Finland - application to boreal and subarctic regions. - Glob. Biogeochem. Cycle. In press.
- Vasander, H. 1987: Diversity of understorey biomass in virgin and in drained and fertilized southern boreal mires in eastern Fennoskandia. - Ann. Bot. Fennici 24:137-153.
- Verhoeven, J.T.A. & Toth, E. 1995: Decomposition of *Carex* and *Sphagnum* litter in fens. - Soil Biol. Biochem. 27:271-275.
- Verville, J.H., Hobbie, S.E., Chapin, F.S. & Hooper, D.U. 1998: Responce of tundra CH_4 and CO_2 flux to manipulation of temperature and vegetation. Biogeochemistry 41:215-235.
- Vourlitis, G.L., Oechel, W.C., Hope, A., Stow, D., Boynton, B., Verfaillie, J., Jr., Zulueta, R. & Hastings, S.J. 2000: Physiological models for scaling plot measurements of CO₂ flux across an arctic tundra landscape. Ecol. Appl. 10:60-72.

- Waddington, J.M. & Roulet, N.T. 2000: Carbon balance of a boreal paterned peatland. Glob. Change Biol. 6:87-97.
- Whalen, S.C. & Reeburgh, W.S. 1988: A methane flux time series for tundra environments. - Glob. Biogeochem. Cycle 2:399-409.
- Wheeler, B.D. & Shaw, S.C. 1995: Restoration of damaged peatlands with particular reference to lowland raised bogs affected by peat extraction. - Depatment of the Environment, University of Sheffield, London. 211 p.
- Whiting, G.J. & Chanton, J.P. 1993: Primary production control of methane emission from wetlands. Nature 364:794-795.
- Williams, T.G. & Flanagan, L.B. 1996: Effect of changes in water content on photosynthesis, transpiration and discrimination against ¹³CO₂ and C¹⁸O¹⁶O in *Pleurozium* and *Sphagnum*. - Oecologia 108:38-46.